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Chief Executive Officer's statement

Background

GeneMedix plc {("Company”) 1s a globally focused biopharmaceutical company, specialising in the development
and manufacture of high quahty, cost effective treatments for some of the world’'s most serious diseases Since
February 2007, the Company 1s part of the Reliance Life Sciences Group of companies The Company 1s working
towards the development of a portfolio of recombinant therapeutic proteins Its current focus 1s in developing and
marketing biosimilars in global markets

Business overview

I am pleased to present the results for the past financial year, dunng which the Company has achieved
considerable progress on its development programme for Erythropoietin (EPO) The Company continues to obtain
positive results at each stage of the development programme and 1s producing a high quality product at its facilty
in Tullamore, Ireland During the year, the Company recewved a commercral manufacturing license for EPO The
Company also received approval to conduct clinical tnals in the EU and the clinical tnials are progressing In
accordance with the plan GeneMedix has also finalised its strategy for our Granulocyte Colony Stimulating Factor
{G-CSF) programme, with a view to manufacturning chnical lots and inhating clinical development in EU In the

coming year G-CSF will be our second biosimilar product

This penod has been dominated by an intensive and well structured integration programme, whereby the
Company's operations were consolidated at Tullamore, Ireland and various programmes have been initiated to
maximise the benefits of the relationship with the parent organisation, Reliance Life Sciences Private Limited and
its affihates It 1s the view of the directors that the Company will benefit immensely from this programme and
advance at a faster pace towards its objective of bringing a portfolio of biosimilar products to the EU market With
the closure of Newmarket, UK office, and the consolidation of all operations at Tullamore, Ireland, the semior
management of the Company has been able to drect its efforts towards product development, cliical

development and manufacturing programmes

Financial review

Operating losses of £55 milllon for the penod are In line with GeneMedix's budgets and reflect planned
expenditure The Company exercised a strict control on expenditure dunng the penod and will continue to focus on
achieving commercial efficacy in the medium term There were no revenues earned dunng the perod

The Company has capitalised development expenditure of £ 21 milion incurred on EPO development
programme, post receipt of chimical tnal approval in September 2007 The level of current assets and liabilikes 1s In
Iine with the activities of the Company

The entire expenditure incurred dunng the year was financed through equity investment of Reliance Life Sciences,
received at the end of last year We will have sufficient cash based on current projections for a mimimum of next
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twelve months, based on the exercise of the outstanding warrants by Relance Life Sciences The total warrant
amount of £17 5 million is exercisable at any time duning five years from the date of initial allotment It 1s envisaged
that this investment would be sufficient to finance the Company's current programmes and at least one additional
product through to launch 1n the European market

Board changes

A significant change in the board has been the appointment of Or R A Mashelkar as Non-Executive charrman
Dr Mashelkar, aged 64, 1s an eminent scientist with an outstanding academic record and has held a number of
high profile positions in the field of science and technology Dr Mashelkar has already started making signficant
coninbutions towards the Company’s strategy and future plans

Dr Mashelkar replaces Dr Kim Tan, a co-founder of GeneMedix, who steps down from the Board GeneMedix
expresses Its sincere gratitude for hus invaluable contribution and guidance in bringing the Company to its current
stage and wishes him well for the future

Employee commitment

1 would like to thank the staff of GeneMedix for therr hard work and commitment Therr competence and efforts
have helped the Company achieve major milestones in the current year We look forward to their continued
commitment in the future The board 1s committed to implement programmes for training and rewarding employees
to motvate them to excel their performance

Finally, |, Vinay Ranade, was appointed as the Company's CEO on 1* January 2008 and would | am committed to
dnving the Company in its pursuit of becoming a large biopharmaceutical company

W

Vinay\Ranade
Chief Executive Officer
5 September 2008
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Directors, Secretary and Advisors

Non-Executive Directors

Dr R. A Mashelkar — Non Executive Chairman

Dr R A Mashelkar was appointed as Non-executive charman of the company on 24 January 2008 Dr
Mashelkar is an eminent scientist with an outstanding academic record and has held a number of very high profile
positions in the field of science and technology He i1s presently the President of the Indian National Scrence
Academy (INSA) and President of Global Research Alliance, a network of publicly funded R&D institutes from Asia
Pacific, Europe and USA with over 60,000 scientists Prnor to this he served as Director General of Council of
Scientfic and Industnal Research (CSIR) Dr Mashelkar has 26 honorary doctorates and is the only third engineer
to have been elected as Fellow of Royal Scciety (FRS) London in the twentieth Century

Mr Rajendra Lodha — Non executive director

Mr Lodha has served for 40 years (1964-2004) as a Senior Partner of M/s Lodha & Co, Chartered Accountants,
having offices at New Delhi, Mumbai, Kolkata, Chennai, Bangalore, Hyderabad and Jaipur He was the President
of Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce & Industry (FICCI), the Apex Chamber of India in its Platinum
Jubilee Year 2002

He 1s Chairman of the M P Birla Group which includes Birla Corporaticn Limited, Universal Cables Ltd , Birla
Encsson Cptical Ltd , and Hindustan Gum & Chemicals Ltd The Group also runs several Medical and Educational
fnstitutions including Bombay Hospital in Mumbai and Indore, Birla Vikas Hospital, Satna and Siddhi, M P Birla
Planetarium, Belle Vue Clinic, Pnyamvada Birla Aravind Eye Hospital and South Point Schools He 1s currently
also serving on the Boards of Interalia, SBI Life Insurance Co Ltd and Henkel India bimited Rajendra 1s Trustee
of Bharatiya Vidya Bhavan tn U K, Life Trustee of Bombay Hospital, which 1s the largest in Mumbal, and on the
Governing Council of Bhagwan Mahavir Memonal Samiti, New Delhi He will chair the audit committee, replacing

Mr Harns

Mr Atul Dayal - Non executive director

Mr Dayal, aged 58, 1s a Solicitor and has been 1n practice since 1974 Untif March 1938, he was a partner with
M/s Kanga & Co, a leading firm of Advocates & Solicitors in Mumbai and from Apnl 1998, has been practicing as
the sole proprietor of M/s A S Dayal & Associates For about 20 years he has been handling legal matters of the
Rehance Group of companies, as their main legal advisor

Executive Directors

Mr K V Subramaniam — Executive director ,

Mr Subramaniam, aged 49, 1s the President and CEQ of Reliance Life Sciences He 1s a Chemical Engineer from
Madras University and a Management Graduate from the Indian Institute of Management, Ahmedabad He started
his career with Indian Petrochemicals Corporation Limited, where he spent fourteen years in several functions He
joined Rehance Industnes Limited in 1994 to lead the corporate business development function, where he was

involved 1n several new initiatives of the orgamsation In petrochemicals, power, infrastructure, agriculture and

GENEMEDIX PLC 5




insurance KV has been instrumental in concewving and developing Reliance Lfe Sciences, which has several
programs covering stem cells and tissue engineenng, molecular diagnostics and genetics, therapeutic proteins,
biopolymers, bicfuels, biochemicals, plant biotechnclogy, chnical research and contract research. He serves on the
Board of the Institute of Chartered Financial Analysts of India (ICFA, Hyderabad, and 1s on the Board of Institute
of Chartered Financial Analysts of India (ICFAI) University, Mizoram

Mr Gerhard Klement — Executive director

Mr Kiement, aged 54, 1s President and CEO for Reliance Biopharmaceuticals He has been with Reliance since
July 2006 with a remit to establish a global Biotechnology company Prior to joining Reliance, he served as VP
Manufactunng and Technical Operations for Altus Pharmaceuticals, leading the manufactunng, process
development, formulation and analytical operations He served as Chief Technology Officer for the worldwide
Biologics and Chemicals Group at Lonza, where he was responsible for new technologies and business
development From 2003 to 2005 Gerhard was the Head of Operations, USA and Chief Operating Officer
Biopharmaceuticals, worldwide at Lonza Biclogics Previously, he held various positions In manufactunng and
engineering at Serono and Centocor He serves on the Scientific Advisory Board of the New Hampshire Chamber

of Commerce and of Laureate Pharmaceuticals

Mr Vinay Ranade — Chief executive officer

Mr Ranade, aged 40, was appointed as CEO of the Company from 1% January 2008 Mr Ranade 1s a Chartered
Accountant and a management graduate by qualificaton and has over 17 years of expenence in various fields
including investment banking, finance and commercial functions, business, projects and operations He has been
a core team member In developing the biotechnology Inihatives at Reliance Life Sciences since 2001 He has
been associated with the Company dunng the acquisition process since December 2005 and has been part of the
integration team since that date in his role as CEQ, he 1s responsible for ensunng that the Company's objective of
delivenng of high quality, cost effective biopharmaceuticals tc a global healthcare market 1s achieved and will be
developing the infrastructure of the Company following its acquisition by Reliance Life Sciences in February 2007
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Directors’ report

The directors present their report on the affairs of the Group and the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2008 The comparative perod 1s for the 16 months penod ended on 31 March 2007

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Company and Group are the development and manufacture of biopharmaceuticais,
including biosimilars, which are a generic version of innovative therapeutic proteins There are plans of expanding
the business in the future to include sales and distnbution

Business review

Please refer to Business overview section as set out In the Chief Executive Officer’s statement on page 3

Principal nsks and uncertainties
The Group's business 1s influenced by a range of factors, some of which may be beyond the control of the Group
and its Board The nsk factors set out below are mostly shared by all other biopharmaceutical companies

Requiatory approval

The clinical evaluation, manufacture and marketing of the Group's drug candidates and its ongoing research and
development activities are subject to regulation by government and other regulatory agencies In countnes where
the Group intends to test or market products Many countries, including all members of the EU and the US, have
very high standards of appraisal and, accordingly, the approval process can be lengthy

Commercial faunch
The Group s Intending to market its own products in vanous markets around the world including EU The Group
has currently no access to any marketing, sale or distribution functions in its market, mainly the EU

Market share

The Group's competitors include, amongst others, major pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies with
substantially large financial resources There I1s no assurance that the Group's competitors and thewr products
would not adversely affect the market shares that the Company can gain
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Key performance indicators (KPls)

Research and development costs including those capitalized duning the year, increased substantially, by 65%
based on a proportionate companson of research and development costs between the year ended 31 March 2008
and 16 months ended 31 March 2007 This indicates major achievements of the Group n its product development
programmes

The directors believe that adding new biosimilars to the portfolio, completion of ongoing development programmes
of EPO and GCSF, launching its products in new markets outside EU, and achieving operating efficencies to
reduce product costs are the KPls for the Company to succeed in becoming a major biopharmaceutical player

Results and dividends
The loss for the penod was £ 5 236 million (2007 £ 5 566 mullion)
The directors elected not to recommend payment of a dividend for the year (2007 £nil)

Research and development

GeneMedix 1s now a part of the Relance Life Sciences Group which has extensive research and development
projects, commerctal and R&D infrastructure faciities in Indha During the penod, the Group incurred research and
development costs of £ 2 3 milllon (2007 £ 3 4 million) predominantly on the development of its EPO, but lately on
G-CSF as well The directors regard continued investment in research and development as a prerequisite for
creating and increasing the value of the intellectual property and technical know-how portfolio and to achieve and

sustain commercial success in the market place

Chantable donations
During the penod, the Company made no chantable donations (2007 £nil)

Political support
GeneMedix did not support, or make any donations to, political parties in the period (2007 £nil)

Financial instruments and associated nsks
The board reviews and agrees overal! treasury policies, delegating appropnate authornty to the Chief Executive
Officer Financial instruments are used to manage the financial nsks facing the Group — speculative transactions

are not permitted

The Group’s financial instruments compnse pnmarnly cash and cash equivalents In additon to the pnmary
financial instruments mentioned above, the Group also has other financial instruments, such as trade creditors,
accruals and prepayments that anse directly from the Group's operations The main purpose of these financial

Instruments 1s to provide working capital for the Group's operations
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The main nsks ansing from the Group's activites, and involving the use of financial instruments, are foreign
currency nsk, interest rate nsk and hquicity nsk Note 3 to the financial statements sets out the nisks in respect of

financial instruments, along with numencal disclosures for each category of financial instrument

Board changes
Details of board changes are contained in the Chief Executive Officer’s statement

Post balance sheet events

The sale of our Chunese facility has been substantially completed and the Company has taken steps to recover the
balance money from its Chinese partner The balance settlement is expected to be completed by 30" September
2008

The Company terminated its agreements of sales and distribution and secondary manufactuning with Gland
Pharma Gland has rejected the Company's request to return the capital equipment owned by the Company
Hence the Company has taken the matter to arbitration and is confident of a ruling in its favour

Supplier payment policy

The Group’s policy I1s to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction,
ensure that suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment and abide by the terms of payment Trade crediors
of the Group at 31 March 2008 were equivalent to 53 days of purchases {2007 54 days)

Substantial) shareholdings
The Company had been notfied, in accordance with sections 198 to 208 of the Companies Act 1985, of the

following interests in the ordinary share capital of the Company

Name of holder Number Percentage held
Dr Kim Tan 14,613,692 9 38%
Reliance Heldings BV 116,825,457 75 02%

Except for the above, the Company has not been notified, of any matenal interest of 3 per cent or more or any
non-matenal interest exceeding 10 per cent of the 1ssued share capital of the Company

Directors’ interests
The directors who held office at 31 March 2008 had no interest in the shares of the Company
The directors who held office at 31 March 2007 had the following interests in the shares of the Company

Name of director Beneficial
Dr Kim Tan 14,613,692
DrHHTing 1,732,682
Mr G Mylchreest 942 741
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International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”}

For 2008, as an AIM listed company, the Company 1s obliged to prepare its consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") and with those parts of the Companies Act
1985 appticable to companies reporting under IFRS Previously the Company prepared its audited annual financial
statements under United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP)

These are the Group's first IFRS financial statements and are governed by IFRS |, First-Time adeption of IFRS
Details regarding the Group's transitton to IFRS are set out in Note 2 2 to the financial statements

Statement on disclosure of information to the auditors
As required under the Companies Act 1985, section 234 ZA(2}, the directors confirm that, to therr knowledge, there
15 no relevant audit iInformation of which the Company’s auditors are unaware

The directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware of

any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP resigned as auditors on 2™ May 2008 and PricewaterhouseCoopers Republic of
Iretand firm were appointed to fill the casual vacancy ansing PricewaterhouseCoopers, Insh firm have indicated
thetr withingness to continue in office and a resolution concerning their appointment will be will be proposed at the

Annual General Meeting

Special business

Your attention 1s drawn to the fact that, in addition to the usual business to be transacted at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company, which i1s to be held on 26 September 2008, some items of special business will be
proposed at that meeting Details of these iterns of special business will be set out In the notice of Annual General
Meeting, which will be enclosed to with the Annual Report to be sent to shareholders
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and the financial statements
The directors are responsible for prepanng the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Unton

The directors are responsible for preparing financial statements for each financial year which give a true and far
view, In accordance with IFRS, of the state of affairs of the Company and Group and of the profit or loss of the
Company and Group for that period In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to
« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
e make judgements and estmates that are reasonable and prudent,
« state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and
» prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it (s Inappropnate to presume
that the Group will continue In business
The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements In prepanng the financial statements

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with the
Companies Act 1985 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

The directors are responsible for the update, maintenance and integnity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company’s website Legislation n the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legistation in other junsdictions

By order of the Board

Y/

Vinay Ranade
Chief Executive Officer & Company Secretary
5 September 2008
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Corporate governance

The Board has established an Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nominations Committee with
formally detegated duties and responsibilities

The Audit Committee consists of all the independent Non-Executive Directors and 1s chaired by Mr Rajendra
Lodha The Audit Committee normally meets twice a year and has responsibility for, among other things, planning
and reviewing the annual report and accounts and intenm statements and involving, where appropnate, the
auditors The Committee also approves auditors’ fees, reviews auditor independence and focuses on comphance
with legal requirements and accounting standards It i1s also responsible for ensuring that an effective system of
internal controls 1s maintaned The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the annual accounts and
intenm statement remains with the Board

The Remuneration Committee 1s made up of all the independent Non-Executive Directors and I1s chaired by Dr R
A Mashelkar The Remuneration Committee, which meets as required, but at least once a year, has responsibihty
for making recommendations to the Board on the compensation of semor execufives and determining, within
agreed terms of reference, the specific remuneration packages for each of the Executive Directors

The Nominations Committee comprises the Chairman and all of the independent Non-Executive Directors and 1s
charred by Dr R A Mashelkar The Nominations Committee has responsibility for reviewing the size and
composition of the Board and the appointment of replacement and or additional directors and making appropriate
recommendations to the Board

By order of the Board

Y

Vinay\Ranade
Chief Executive Officer
5 September 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GENEMEDIX PLC

We have audited the Group and parent Company financial statements (the “financial
statements”) of GeneMedix plc for the year ended 31 March 2008 which comprise the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated and Company balance sheets, the
consolidated and Company cash flow statements, the consolidated and Company
statement of recognised income and expense and the related notes These financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for prepanng the annual report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the Statement of directors’
responsibilities

Our responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant iegal and
regulatory requirements and Iniernational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) This
repont, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members
as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other
purpose We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prnior consent in wnting.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair
view and whether the financial statements have been property prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation We also report to you if,
In our opinion, the Directors’ Report 1s not consistent with the financial statements

In addition, we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper
accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration
and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We read other information contained in the annual report and consider whether it 1s
consistent with the audited financial statements. The other information compnses only the
Chief Executive Officers Statement and the Directors’ Report We consider the

Ronan Murphy Otwyn Alexander Brian Bergin Damian Byme Pat Candon John Casey Mary Cleary Siobhédn Collier Andrew Craig Thérése Crepg
Richard Day Fiona de Burca David Deviin John Dillon Aonan Doyle John Dunne FCCA Kewin Egan Martin Freyne Alisa Hayden Teresa Harnogion
Paul Hennessy Ken Johnson Patnaa Johnston Paraic Joyce Andrea Kefly Claran Kelly Joanne P Kelly Chand Kohli John Loughiin Vincent MacMahon
Tom McCarthy Enda McDonagh Jdohn McDonnell ivan Mcloughlin Robin Menzies Brian Nelan Damuan Neylin Andy O Callaghan Jonathan (¥Connell
Derus O'Connor Donal O'Connor Mane O'Connor FCCA Paul Q'Connor Irene O Keeffe Dave O'Malley Garvan O'Nedl Michaed O'Nesll Joe O Shea

Ken Owens Emma Scott Bob Semple Mke Suffivan Billy Sweetman Paul Tuite Tony Weldon

Also at Cork, Galway Kikenny Limenck, Waterford and Wextord
Chartered Accountants \11»

PricewaternouseCoopers 1s authonsed by the Institute of Chartered Accountants i Ireland to carry on investment business




imphcations for our report If we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any
other information

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) 1ssued by the Auditing Practices Board An audit includes examination, on a test
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements It
also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the
directors In the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company's circumstances, consistently
apphed and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations
which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other wregularty or error In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements.

Opinion
In our opinion

¢ the consolidated financial statements give a true and farr view, in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the Group'’s affairs as at 31
March 2008 and of its loss and cash flows for the year then ended,

» the parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Umion as appled in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the parent Company’s affairs as
at 31 March 2008 and cash flows for the year then ended,

« the financial statements have been properly prepared In accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation, and

+ the information in the Directors’ Report 1s consistent with financial statements.

rmafei;[«w’ KGGN

ncewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Dublin
5 September 2008
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2008

Continuing operations
Research and development costs
Administrative expenses
Operating loss
Finance income
Finance costs
Other income
Loss before taxation
Taxation
Loss after taxation from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Loss for the year/penod
Attributable to*
Equity holders of the parent
Minonty interest

Loss per share for loss attributable to the equity holders of the parent
From continuing and discontinued operations - basic and dituted

From conttnuing operations — basic and diluted

From discontinued operations — basic and diluted

GENEMEDIX PLC

Notes

14

12
13

32

16
16
16

Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000
(2,302) (3.419)
(3,202) (4,079)
(5,504) (7,498)
330 87
(109) (384)
47 2,283
(5,236} (5,512)
- 345
{5,236) (5,167)
- (399)
{5,236) (5,568)
(5,236) (5,488)
- (78)
(5,236) (5,566)
(3.4p) (11 5p)
(3-4p) (10 8p)
- (07p)
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 31 March 2008

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Intangible fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment at cost

Current assets

Inventories

Other receivables
Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Net current assets
Total assets less current liahilities

Non-current habilities
Borrowings

Net assets

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

Share premium

Other reserves
Retained losses

Total shareholders’ equity

Notes

17
18

21
22
30
30

23
24

24

25
27
27
27

27

31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£°000 £'000
2,159 72
2,850 3,229

7 -
5,016 3,301
384 130
998 1,669
162 125
2,632 9,156
4,176 11,080
(1,678) (1,637)
(1,059) (150)
(2,737) (1,787)
1,439 9,293
6,455 12,594
- (950)
6,455 11,644
15,572 15,572
27,602 27,602
3,268 3,226
(39,987) (34,756)
6,455 11,644

The financial statements on pages 16 to 71 were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 August 2008 and were

signed on its behalf by

Vinay
Director

GENEMEDIX PLC
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Company Balance Sheet
As at 31 March 2008

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Intangible fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment

Current assets
Inventories

Other receivables
Restncted cash

Cash and cash equivalent

LIABILITIES
Current habilities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Net current assets

Total assets less current habilities

Non-current habilities
Borrowings
Net assets

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

Share premium

Other reserves
Retained losses

Total shareholders’ equity

Notes

17
18
19

21
22
30
30

23
24

24

25
27
27
27

27

31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £000
2,159 72
2,860 3,229

7 -
5,016 3,301
384 130
998 1,669
162 125
2,632 9,156
4,176 11,080
{1,678) (1,637)
{1,059} (150)
(2,737) (1,787) |
1,439 9,203
6,455 12,594

. (950)
6,455 11,644
15,572 15,572
27,602 27,602
3,268 3,226
(39,987) (34,756) |
6,455 11,644

The financial statements on pages 16 to 71 were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 August 2008 and were

signed on its behalf by

V4

Vinay Ranade
Director

GENEMEDIX PLC
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Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
For the year ended 31 March 2008

Notes Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000
Loss for the year/period {5,236) {5,566)
Currency translation difference 27 42 22
Gain on early extinguishment of equity element of debenture loan notes 27 - 425
Total recogmised expenses for the year/period {5,194) {5,119)
Attrnibutable to.
Equity holders of the parent {5,194) (5,046)
Minority interests - (73)
{5,194) (5,119)
Company Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
For the year ended 31 March 2008
Notes Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000
Loss for the year/penod {5,236) {6,218)
Currency translation difference 27 42 -
Gain on early extingwishment of equity element of debenture loan notes 27 - 425
Total recognised expenses for the year/penod {5,194) (5,793)
Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent {5,194) (5,793}
Minonty interests -
(5,194) (5,793)
19
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Net cash flows used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for plant and equipment
Payments for intangible assets
Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary
Increase In restnicted cash

Acquisition of subsidiary

Discontinued operations

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities'

Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital

Issue of convertible unsecured loan stock

Repayment of convertible loan notes

Repayments of borrowings

Repayment of finance leases

Discontinued operations

Cash flows generated from financing activihes

Net (decrease)increase In cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year/period
Effect of foreign currency translation

Cash and cash equivalents

GENEMEDIX PLC

Notes

28
29

18
17

20

19
12

30

Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000
{5,203) {5,305)
- 34
{5,203) (5,271)
{(286) (83)
{2,138) -
364 27
778 671
(36) 2
0] -
- 25
(1,325) 638
- 14,760
- (1.221)
- (150} .
- (782)
- {104)
- 12,503
{6,528) 7,870
9,156 1,298 ‘
4 (12)
2,832 9,156
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Company Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2008

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash flows used in operating activities 28

Cash flows from investing activities:

Payments for plant and equipment 18
Payments for intangible assets 17
Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary 20
Increase in restricted cash

Acquisition of subsidiary 19

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from 1ssue of crdinary share capital

Issue of convertible unsecured loan stock

Repayment of convertible loan notes

Repayments of borrowings

Repayment of finance leases

Cash flows generated from financing activities

Net {decrease)increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash eguivalents at the beginning of year/penod 30
Effect of foreign currency translation

Cash and cash equivalents

GENEMEDIX PLC

Year 16 months

ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007

£000 £'000

(5,203) (5,305)

{286) {(83)
(2,138) -
364 27
778 671

(36) (2
(7} -
{1,325) 613
- 14,760

- (1,221)

- (150)

- (782)
- 12,607
(6,528) 7,915
9,156 1,248

4 (7)
2,632 9,156
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2008

1. General information

GeneMedix plc (the Company') and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as ‘the Group’ or ‘GeneMedix’)
develop, manufacture and distnbute comparable biotechnology pharmaceuticals, ‘Biosimilars’, which are a generic
versicn of high value therapeutic proteins

The Company Is a public himited company incorporated under the Companies Act 1985 and domiciled in the Urited
Kingdom The address of its registered office 1s Tower 42, 20" Floor, 25 Old Broad Street, London, EC 2N 1HQ

The company I1s a subsidiary of Reliance Life Sciences Prnivate Limited, India
The Company has its primary sting on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) of the London Stock Exchange

These group consoldated financial statements were authonsed for issue by the board of directors on 30 August
2008

At the date of authonsation of these financial statements, there were Standards and Interpretations in 1ssue but not
yet effective which have not been applied Further details are included in Note 2 1

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The pnncipal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below These policies have been consistently applied to all the year and period presented, unless otherwise
stated

2 1. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of GeneMedix plc have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") as adopted by European Union All IFRSs issued by the Intermational
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB") that were effective at the time of prepanng the financial statements and
adopted by the European Commission for use inside the EU were applied by GeneMedix plc The consolidated
financia! statements have been prepared under the histoncal cost convention

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses dunng the reporting penod Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of
the amount, event or actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates The areas involving higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Gomng concem

The Directors have made an assessment of the general working capital requirements for the next twelve months,
inctuding the cash required for operations and of the feasibility of the potential approaches to 1ssuing new ordinary
shares, renegotiating or refinancing the convertible loan note Based on this assessment the Board has a
reasonable expectation that the Group can 1ssue new ordinary shares, renegotiate or refinance the convertible
loan note and will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and
have, therefore, prepared the financial information contained herein on a going concern basis The financial
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

statements do not reflect any adjustments that would be required to be made if they were to be prepared on a
basis other than a going concern basis

{a) Standards, amendment and interpretations effective in this financal year

IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments Disclosures’, and the complementary amendment to IAS 1, 'Presentation of
financial statements — Capital disclosures’, introduces new disclosures relating to financial instruments and does
not have any impact on the classification and valuation of the Group's financial instruments, or the disclosures
relating to taxation and trade and other payables

IFRIC 8, ‘Scope of IFRS 2, requires consideration of transactions involving the 1ssuance of equity instruments,
where the identifiable consideration received s less than the fair value of the equity instruments 1ssued in order to
establish whether or not they fall within the scope of IFRS 2 This standard does not have any impact on the
group's financial statements

(b)  Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in this financial year but not relevant
The following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards are mandatory for accounting
pernods beginning on or after 1 January 2007 but they are not relevant to the group’s operations

. IFRIC 7, ‘Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29, Financial reporting in hypennflationary

economies’,
. IFRIC 9, 'Re-assessment of embedded denvatives’,
. IFRIC 10, ‘Intenm financial reporting and impairment’, and
) IFRIC 11, 'IFRS 2 — Group and treasury share transactions’

{c) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are
mandatory for the Group's accounting penods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 or later penods, but the Group
has not early adopted them

. IAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’ (effective from 1 January 2009) It requires an entity to capitalise
borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisihion, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one
that takes a substantal pencd of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of that asset The
option of iImmediately expensing those borrowing costs will be removed The Group will apply IAS 23
{Amended} from 1 Apnl 2009 but i1s currently not applicable to the Group as there are no borrowing costs
relating to qualifying assets

. IFRS 8, '‘Operating segments ‘(effective from 1 January 2009) IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 and aligns segment
reporting with the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131, 'Disclosures about segments of an
enterpnse and related information’ The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which
segment Iinformation 1s presented on the same basis as that used for internal reportng purposes The
Group wili apply IFRS 8 from 1 Apnl 2009

. IAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’ It 1s required to be implemented in the Group's
financial year commencing 1 Apnl 2009 The amendment requires additional disclosures about the group's
objectives, policies and process for managing capitai The Group will apply IAS 1 (Amendment} from 1 Apnl
2009
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(d)

IFRS 2 (Amendment), 'Share-based payment' relating to vesting conditions and cancellatons The
amendment will apply retrospectively from 1st January 2009 and specifies that all cancellations of share-
based payment arrangements, including those by an employee or other counterparty, should receive the
same accounting treatment of requinng mmediate recognition In the income statement of the charge that
would otherwise have been recognised over the remainder of the service period

IFRS 3 (Amendment), ‘Business combinations’ The amendment will apply to business combinations ansing
from 1st January 2010 Amongst other changes, the new Standard will require recognition of subsequent
changes In the farr value of contingent consideration in the income statement rather than against goodwiil,
and transaction costs to be recognised immediately in the income statement Fair value gains or losses on
existing investments In an acquired company will be recognised In the income statement at the date of
acquisition

IAS 27 (Amendment), ‘Consohidated and separate financial statements’ The amendment deals with the
measurement of the cost of Investments in subsidianes, jointly controlled entitries and associates The group
will apply IAS 27 (Amendment) from 1 Apnil 2009

IFRS 3 (Amended) and 1AS 27 (Amended) will both be applied prospectively to transachons accurnng after
the implementation date It is therefore not possible to assess In advance therr impact on the financial
statements of the Group

IAS 39 (Amendment), ‘The fair value option'’ The amendment limits the abihty for an entity to designate any
financial asset or financial liability as at “far vaiue through profit or loss” The group will apply 1AS 39
(Amendment) from 1 Apnl 2008

Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not refevant for the Group’s operations

The following interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 Apnl 2008 or later periods but are not relevant for the Group's
operations

{d)

IFRIC 12, 'Service concession arrangements’,

IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’,

IFRIC 14, IAS19 ~ The hmit on a defined-benefit asset, mmimum funding requirements and therr tnteraction’,
IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’,

IFRIC 16 — 'Hedges to a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation’, and

IAS 32 (Amendment), ‘Puttabie financial instruments and abligations artsing on hagudation’

Company income statement

In accordance with the provisions of section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, no separate income statement has
been presented for the Company The results for the Company are also presented under IFRS

22

Basis of transition to IFRS

2 2 1 Application of IFRS 1

The Group's financial statements for the year ended 33 March 2008 will be the first annual financial statements
that comply with IFRS The Group has applied IFRS 1 in preparning these consolidated financial statements

GeneMedix's transition date 1s 1 December 2005 The Group prepared its opening IFRS balance sheet at that

date
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Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements (continued)

The reporting date of these consolidated financial statements 1s 31 March 2008 The Group's IFRS adoption date
15 1 December 2005

In prepanng these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, the Group has applied the
mandatory exceptions and certain of the optional exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRS

The impact of transition from UK GAAP to IFRS on Group shareholders’ equity as at 31 March 2007 and on the
date of transition of 1 December 2005, and on the Group’s income statement for the penod ended 31 March 2007
1s outlined in Note 38 The impact of transition from UK GAAP to IFRS on Group shareholders’ equity as at 31
March 2007 and on the date of transition of 1 December 2005 1s outlined in Note 38

2 2 2 Exemptions from full retrospective application elected by the Group
The Group has elected to apply the following optional exemptions from full retrospective application

(a) Business combinations exemption

The Group has applied the business combinations exemption Iin IFRS 1 It has not restated business combinations
that took place prior to the 1 December 2005 transition date The application of this exemption 1s detalled in Note
38

{(b) Fairvalue as deemed cost exemplion
The Group has elected to measure certain items of property, plant and equipment at fair value as at 1 December
2005 The application of this exemption 1s detailled in Note 38

{¢) Cumulative translation differences exemption

The Group has elected to set the previously accumulated cumulative translation to zero at 1 December 2005 This
exemption has been applied fo all subsidiaries 1n accordance with IFRS 1 The application of this exemption Is
detailed in Note 38

(d) Compound financial instruments exemption
The Group has elected not to restate the comparative information in compliance with |1AS 32 “Financial
instruments disclosure and presentation” and IAS 39 “Financial instruments recognition and measurement’

(e) Assels and habiifies of subsidianes exemption
This exemption 1 not applicable, as the use of the exemption 1S made at the level of the subsidiary that adopts
IFRS later than its parent company

(f) Exemption from restatement of comparatives for IAS 32 and IAS 39
The Group elected to apply this exemption It applies previous GAAP rules to financial assets and financiat
habilities and for the 2007 comparative information The adjustments required for differences between GAAP and

IAS 32 and IAS 39 are determined and recognised at 1 Apnl 2007 The adjustments are detaled in Note 38

() Designation of financial assets and financial lrabilities exemption
The Group has held such assets and liabilities, this exemption 1s not applicable

(h) Share-based payment transaction exemption
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

The Group has elected to apply the share-based payment exemption It applied IFRS 2 from 1 December 2005 to
those options that were 1ssued after 7 November 2002 but that have not vested by 1 January 2005 The
application of the exemption i1s detatled in Note 38

)] Insurance contracts exemption
The Group does not 1ssue Insurance contracts, this exemption i1s not applicable

(k)  Decommussioming habilitres included in the cost of property, plant and equipment exemption
The Group does not have such habilties, this exemption 1s not applicable

U] Fair value measurement of financial assets or habiliies at inthial recognition

The Group has not applied the exemption offered by the revision of IAS 39 on the initial recognition of the financial
instruments measured at far value through profit and loss where there I1s no active market This exemption 1s
therefore not applicable

2 2 3 Exceptions from full retrospective application followed by the Group
The Group has applied the following mandatory exceptions from retrospective application

(a) Derecogmition of financial assets and fiabilitres exception
Financial assets and labilities derecognised before 1 December 2005 are not re-recognised under IFRS The
apphcation of the exemption from restating comparatives for IAS 32 and IAS 39 means that the Group recognised
from 1 December 2005 any financial assets and financial liabilites derecognised since 1 December 2005 that do
not meet the IAS 39 derecognition cntera Management did not chose to apply the IAS 38 derecognition critenia to
an earlier date .

The Group has not derecognised any financial assets and habiittes since its formation Therefore, this exemption
Is not applicable

{b)  Hedge accounting exception
The Group has never either claimed any hedge accounting or met any hedging accounting cntena under IAS 39
since its formation Therefore, this exemption 1s not applicable

(c} Eshmates exception
Estimates under IFRS at 1 December 2005 should be consistent with estimates made for the same date under
previous GAAP, unless there Is evidence that those estimates were Iin error

(d)  Assets held for safe and discontinued operations exception

Management apphes IFRS 5 prospectively from 1 December 2005 Any assets held for sale or discontinued
operations are recognised in accordance with IFRS 5 only from 1 December 2005 The Group had assets held-for-
sale dunng the penod presented, but disposed before the perod end Therefore, only a reclassification adjustment
15 required at 1 December 2005 Details are shown 1n Note 38
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continuad)

23 Consolidation
The underlying financial statements compnse a consolidation of the accounts of the Company and all is
subsichanes The results of the branch actvities are included in the results of the company The accounts are
made up to 31 March

(a)  Subsidianes

Subsidianes are all entties over which the Group has control Control 18 achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities
Subsidianes are fully consolidated from the date on which control 1s transferred to the Group They are de-
consolidated from the date on which control ceases The resuits of subsidianies acquired or disposed dunng the
year/penod are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal, as appropnate

The Group uses the purchase method to account for the acquisition of subsidianies The cost of an acquisition s
measured as the farr value of the assets given, equity instruments 1ssued and habiihes incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition Identifiable assets acquired and labilities and
contingent liabihties assumed In a bustiness combtnation are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date, rrespective of the extent of any minonty interest The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of
the Group's share of the 1dentifiable net assets acquired 1s recorded as goodwill If the cost of acquisition 1s less
than the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference 1s recogmsed
directly in the income statement

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated
Unreahsed losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred
Subsidianies’ accounting policies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group

(b) Transactions and minonty interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transachons with minonty interests as transactions with parties external to
the Group Disposals to minonty interests resuft in gains and losses for the Group that are recorded in the iIncome
statement Purchases from minonty interests result in goodwili, being the difference between any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary

2.4. Foreign currency translation
{a} Functional and presentation currency

Items included n the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
pnmary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’) The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Pound Sterling ('€£'), which 1s the Company's presentation currency Further details
are shown in Note 4 3

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated inte the functional cusrency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year/penod-end exchange rates of monetary assets and habiittes denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entites (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows

. assets and habilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet,
. income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this

average Is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions), and
. all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity

On consolidation, exchange differences ansing from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are
taken to shareholders’' equity Where branch/subsidianies are funded centrally, using long-term intercompany loans
and settlement of these loans 1s neither planned nor likely to occur 1n the foreseeable future, they are treated as a
deduction 1n arnving at the net investment and related exchange transiation differences are taken to reserves
When a foreign operation 1s disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised
in the iIncome statement as part of the gain or loss on sale

25. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at the cost of purchase or construction less provision for depreciation
and impairment The cost of property, plant and equipment includes acquisition costs and labour and overhead
costs ansing directly from the construction or acquisition of an item of property, plant and equipment

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropnate,
only when It 1s probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably All other repairs and maintenance expenditures are charged to the income
statement during the financial year/period in which they are incurred

Property, plant and equipment depreciation I1s provided on the difference between the cost of an item and its
estimated residual value, in equal annual instalments over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows

Plant and machinery 10%—-20%
Office equipment 10%-20%
Fixtures and fittings 10%

Leasehold improvements/land and buildings 10%—-20%

Assels in the course of construction are depreciated when they have been brought into operational use
Residual values of assets and therr useful ives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date An asset's carrying amount 1s wrtten down immediately to its recoverable amount If the asset's carrying

amount 1s greater than its estimated recoverable amount

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by companng the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and
are included n the iIncome statement
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2.6. Intangible assets

aj} Goodwiil

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the group's share of the net
identfiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisiton Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidianes 1s
included in ‘intangible assets’ Separately recogrised goodwill 1s tested annually for impairment and carned at cost
less accumulated )ympairment losses Impairrment losses on goodwill are not reversed Gains and losses on the
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold

b) Licences and technical knowhow

Acquired technical knowhow and licences are shown at historical cost Techmical knowhow and licences have a
finite useful Iife and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation Amortisation Is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the cost of technical knowhow licences over their estmated useful lives (15 years)

c) Research and development
Research expenditure 1s charged to the income statement in the period in which it 1s incurred Development expenditure
1s capitalised when the cntenia for recognising it as an asset are met —

¢ The techmical feasibility of completing the asset so that it will be available for use or sale
 The intention to complete the asset and use or sell it
¢« The ability to use the asset
« The asset will generate probable future economic benefits and demonstrate the existence of a market or
the usefulness of the asset if it I1s to be used internally
¢ The avallabibty of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell it
» The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attnbutable to the intangible asset
Research and development expenditure that does not create, produce or prepare an asset for future use 1s expensed as
incurred Further details are included in Note 4 1

Where development costs are capitahsed they are amortised over ther useful economic lives (10 years) from product
launch Pnor to product launch the asset 1s tested annually for impairment

27 Impairment of assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may net be recoverable An impairment loss I1s recognised for the
amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable amount 1s the
higher of an asset's farr value less costs to sell and value in use Any impairrment loss 1s charged to the income
statement In the year concerned For the purposes of assessing imparment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash generating units)

The expected cash flows generated by the assets are discounted using asset specific discount rates which reflect
the nsks associated with the groups of assets

28 Loans and receivables

Loans and recevables are non-denvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market They are included in cuirent assets, except for matunties greater than 12 months after the
balance sheet date These are classified as non-current assets The Group's loans and recewvables compnse
‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the balance sheet (Note 2 10)
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Other recevables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment A prowision for impairment of other recevables I1s
established when there 1s objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to
the original terms of the receivables Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial recrganisation and default or delinquency In payments (more than 30 days overdue)
are considered indicators that the other receivable 1s impaired The amount of the prowvision I1s the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fiows, discounted at the
onginal effective interest rate The carrying amount of the asset 15 reduced thrcugh the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the loss I1s recognised 1n the income statement within ‘administrative expenses' When
a other receivable 15 uncollectible, it 1s wntten off against the allowance account for other receivables Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously wrntten off are credited against ‘administrative expenses’ in the income
statement

29. Inventories

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost 1s determined using the first in, first out
(FIFO) method The cost of finished goods comprises raw matenals.'dlrect iabour, other direct costs and an
appropnate proportion of related producton overheads, based on the normal level of production capacity Net
realisable value is the estimated selling pnce in the ordinary course of business, less applicable vanable selling
expenses Provision 1s made for cbsolete, slow-maving or defective items where appropnate

2.10. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short term hughly iquid
investments with onginal maturities of three months or less, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant nisk of changes in value Cash and cash equivalents are carned in the
balance sheet at amortised cost For the purposes of the cash flow statement, net cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits

Restricted cash 1s carmed in the balance sheet at amortised cost Restncted cash comprises reserve funds
required for financial guarantee contracts and collateral against certain leased assets

211 Trade payables

Trade payables are recogrused initiaily at farr value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method

212 Borrowings

{a) Loans

Obligations for loans are recognised when the Group becomes party to the related contracts and are measured
initially at farr value less directly attributable transaction costs After initial recognition, tnterest bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method Gains and losses
ansing on the repurchase, settlement or other cancellation of labilities are recogrised respectively in finance
revenue and finance cost

(b) Convertible loan note
On issue the debt and equity components of a convertible loan note are separated and recorded at farr value net of
1ssue costs and income tax effects The fair value of the ilability portion 1s determined by applying a market interest
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rate for an eguivalent non-convertible loan note to the forecast cash flows under the convertible loan note
agreement This amount 1s recorded as a hability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or
matunty of the loan notes The remainder of the proceeds of the lcan note 1s allocated to the conversion option
which 1s recognised and included in shareholders’ equity

The value of the conversion option 1s not changed in subsequent penods Where the loan notes include early
repayment options for the loan note holders and early repayment will be at par, the embedded option 1s considered
as clearly and closely related and therefore not separated from the host contract

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional rnight to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date

213. Leases

Lease agreements which transfer to the Group substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of an asset are
classified as finance leases Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the far
value of the leased property, plant and equipment and the present value of mimimum lease payments Each lease
payment is allocated between the hability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
finance balance outstanding The comesponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other
long-term payables These payments are split between capital and interest elements using the annuity method
The interest element of the lease rental 1s included In the income statement Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated on a basis consistent with similar owned assets or the lease term If shorter

All other leases are classified as operating leases Payments made under operating leases, net of lease incentives
or premiums received, are charged to the income statement on a straight-iine basis over the period of the lease

214 Employee benefits
(a)  Pension obhgations

The Group operates varnous defined contnbution plans for its employees The Group’s contributions to this plan
are charged to the income statement in the period to which they relate The Group contributes a sum equal to a
proportion of basic salary (currently a maximum of 7%) to a personal defined contnbution pension scheme on
behalf of each participating employee each month The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contnbutions have been paid

(b)  Share-based compensation

Incentives in the form of shares are provided to employees under share option and long-term incentive plans In
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, charges for these incentives are expensed through the income
statement on a straight-bne basis over therr vesting penod, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will
eventually vest The total amount to be expensed 1s determined by reference to the farr value of the options or
awards at the date they were granted excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example,
profitabiity and sales growth targets) Non-market vesting conditions are included in estimates about the number of
options that are expected to become exercisable or are released
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At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable It recognises the impact of the revision of onginal estimates, if any, in the iIncome statement, and a
corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period

(c} Termunation benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment i1s terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits The Group recognmises terminabion
benefits when 1t 1s demonstrably committed to either (1) terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal, or {1} providing termination benefits as a result
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy Benefits faling due more than 12 months after the balance
sheet date are discounted to present value

{d) Hohday pay

The Group’s holiday period run for each financial year and the Group allows employees to carry over hohdays into
the next year as long as they are used by 30 September of that year An accrual 1s made for any unused holidays
at the year end

(e) Profit-shanng and bonus plan

The Group recognises a hability and an expense for bonuses and profit-shanng, based on a farmula that takes into
consideration the profit attnbutable to the company's shareholders after certain adjustments The Group
recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there 1s a past practice that has created a constructive
obhgation

2.15. Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it 1s probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the
amount has been rehably estimated

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required In settlement 1s
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole A provision 1s recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small

Prowisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks specific to
the obligation The increase in the provision due to passage of time 1s recognised as interest expense

216 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the 1ssue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds

Where any Group company purchases the Company's equity share capital (Treasury shares) the consideration
paid, including any directly attnbutable incremental costs (net of income taxes) I1s deducted from equity attnbutable
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to the Company’'s equity holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of Where such shares are
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attnbutable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, 1s included in equity attnbutable to the Company's equity holders

217 Taxation

{a) Current tax

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year/penod using the tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the group’s branch
and subsidianes operate and generate taxable income, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s provided in full, using the hability method, on temporary differences ansing between the tax bases
of assets and habiities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements However, the deferred
tax 18 not accounted for If it anses from inihial recognition of an asset or hability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
Deferred tax 1s determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset 1s realised or the deferred tax
hability 1s settled

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised

Deferred tax 1s provided on temporary differences ansing on investments in subsidianes and associates, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference 1s controlled by the Group and 1t i1s probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

(h) Research and development tax credits/relief

The Group makes claims each year for Research and Development Tax Credits It elected to take the cash
equivalent amount for previous period under the Smallf/medium enterprise(SME) scheme Since acquisition
by Reliance Life Sciences, it 1s not eligible for claiming cash equivalent under the SME scheme and hence
has elected for tax loss enhancement for the current year under the large company scheme

3. Financial risk management

3.1. Financial risk factors

The Group holds financial instruments to finance its operations and to manage the currency nsk that anses from
these operations It 1s the Group's policy that no speculative trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken
The Group finances its operations through a combination of equity, bndge loans and convertible loan notes as
disclosed in Note 24 Borrowings The marn nsks ansing from the Group's financial instruments are liquichty nsk,
market nsk, and credit nisk

a) Market nsk

Foreign currency exchange nsk
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The Group 1s exposed to movements in foreign exchange rates against the Euro for trading transactions and the
translation of net assets, liabiities and expenses of non-UK subsidiaries and branch The main trading currencies
of the Group are Pound Sterling and the Euro (2007 Pound Sterling, the Euro and Chinese Renminbi)

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation nsk Currency exposure ansing from the net assets of the Group's foreign operations 15 managed
pnmanly through borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies

Following the disposal of the subsidiary in China — Shanghai GeneMedix Biotechnology Co Ltd in December 2006,
almost all of the Group’s operations are based in Ireland and UK giving nse to exposures to changes In foreign
exchange rates between the euro and the pound sterhing To minimise the impact of any fluctuations, the Group's
policy has historically been to maintain natural hedges by relating the structure of borrowings to the trading cash
flows that generate them Where branch and subsidianies are funded centrally, this 15 achieved by the use of long-
term loans, on which exchange translation differences are taken to reserves

The aggregate carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and labiities held by the
Group’s branch and subsidiaries, which are not denominated in their functional currency, as at the reporting date
are as follows

Liabiliies Assets

£000 £000

Pound Sterling (36) -
Euro (137) -
Chinese Renminbi (‘'RMB’) - 181

The Group 15 mainly exposed lo the Pound Stering, Euro and Chinese Renminbi In addition, the Group Is
exposed to cross currency rates, as operating costs of the branch and subsidianes are often in currencies other
than their functional currency

The following table detalls the Group's loss before tax sensttivity to a 10% increase and decrease n Pound
Sterling as at the balance sheet date against the relevant foreign currencies, with all other vanables held constant
It includes foreign currency denominated monetary tems and adjusts their translation at the penod end for a 10%
change In foreign currency rates A positive number indicates a strengthening of the relevant currency For a
weakening there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss, and the balances below would be reversed

£/USS £I1€ £/RMB £/PLN
£'000

2008 2 9 (26) -
2007 2 5 (71 1

At 31 March 2008, If the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% agawnst the Euro with all other vanables
held constant, loss for the year would have been £9,169 (2007 £4,765) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gainsflosses on translation of Euro denominated ‘other receivables’ Loss 1s more sensitive to movement
in currency/Euro exchange rates in 2008 than 2007 because of the increased amount of Euro trade and other
payables Equity would have been £754,245 (2007 £338,436 26) lower/higher, ansing mainly from foreign
exchange losses/gains on translation of Euro-denominated intra-company leans and equity reserve Equity is more
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sensitive to movement in currency/Eure exchange rate in 2008 than 2007 because of the increased amount of
Euro-denominated intra-company loans

Pnce nsk

The Group 15 exposed to commodity price nsk including labour and matenal costs The group addresses the
matenals pnce nsk through competitive and alternate sourcing strategies Though the Group has little control over
the labour price nsk, the extent of vanation 1s monitored continuously to assess its impact on budget and product /
project costing

interest rate nsk
The Group borrows at fixed and floating rates of interest as deemed appropnate for its circumstances All
borrowings are at fixed rates, but deposits are at floating rates the Group 1s therefore exposed to interest rate nsk

The Group's exposure to interest rates on financial assets and liabilites i1s detalled in Note 24 Borrowings The
sensitivity analysis has been prepared to show the effect of a 1% increase In market interest rates on interest
income and expense For floating rate financial assets the analysis i1s prepared assuming the amount of asset was
outstanding as at 31 March 2008 A 1% decrease would have an equal and opposite effect on the change in loss

Effect on loss before tax
31 March 2008 31 March 2007

£000 £'000
Pound Sterling 27 91
Euro - 1

Credit nsk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Group to concentrations of credit nsk consist pnmanly of cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash and other receivable Excess cash i1s invested in short-term money market
instruments, including bank term deposits, money market and liquidity funds These investments typically bear
minima! nsk

The Group's revenue from product sales are likely to be mainly derved from agreements with major
pharmaceutical companies and relationships with pharmaceutical wholesale distributors and retail pharmacy
chains However, for the year to 31 March 2008 there was no revenue generated from product sales or licensing,
50 no ‘trade receivable’ credit nsk issue arose The Group will take positive steps to manage any credit nsk
associated with future trade account receivable and operates clearly defined credit evaluation procedures

With respect to credit nsk ansing from other financial assets in the Group, the maximum exposure 1s equal to the
carrying value of the instrument

b) Liquidity nsk

The Group's policy 1s to maintain continuity of funding through a mixture of long-term debt and bank loans, raised
to cover specific projects, and through the 1ssue of shares to collaborative partners, where necessary, to finance
development contracts Short-term flexibility (s provided through the use of bndge leans and bank overdrafts

As set out in Note 24 Borrowings, the Group has inissue £1 2 milion convertible loan note which was estmated
to be redeemed at par on 30 August 2008 This arrangement i1s under negotiation The Directors have carned out a
detalled appraisal of a number of potential approaches to renegotiate or refinance the loan note The details about
how the company plans to continue to operate in future can be found in Note 2 1 under “Going concern”
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The maturity of the debt is disclosed in Note 24 Borrowings

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve (compnses equity raisings, debenture loan
notes and loans) (Financial review In directors report) and cash and cash eguivalents (Note 30) on the basis of
expected cash flow

Forecasted liquidity reserve per 31 March 2008 is as follows:

2009 2010-2013

£'000 £000
Opening balance for the penod 2,794 3,395
Operating proceeds 833 51,188
Operating cash outflows (7,475} (50,050)
Financing proceeds : 7,243 5,762
Payments of debts ' _
Net cash generated from operating activities 3,385 10,295

3.2 Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 24, cash and
cash equivalents in Note 30 and equity attnbutable to equity holders of the parent, compnsing capital, reserves
and retaned losses are disclosed in Note 27 The Group manages its capital to ensure that in the Group will be
able to continue as going concerns and to ensure the Group has sufficient capital available to meet future funding
requirements The Group had net funds of £17 milion (2007 £8 2 milion) and positions the Group to take
advantage of any opportunities that might anse to develop the business

The Group Is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements

3.3 Fair value estimation

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of other recevables and trade payables are assumed to
approximate to therr far values The fair value of the habilities for disclosure purposes Is estimated by discounting
the future cash flows at the current market interest rates that are available to the Group for similar financial
instruments

The Group had 4% convertible loan stock of £1 2 million, which carrying value was £1 1 milhion (2007 £1 million)
it was not practical to estimate the fair value of the convertible loan stock with sufficient reliability, as the
instrument was umique to the Group Therefore the fair value of the convertible loan note 1s deemed fo be the
book valug Further detalls are shown in Note 24

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the apphcation of policies and reported amounts of assets and habilities,
income and expenses The Notes to the financial statements set out areas involving a higher degree of judgment
or complexity, or areas where assumptions are significant to the financial statements such as intangible assets
(Note 17) The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
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|udgements about carrying values of assets and liabtlities that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual
results may differ from these estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised In the year/peniod in which the estimate 1s revised

41 Intangible assets — development costs

Expenditure on pure and applied research 1s charged to the income statement in the year in which it 1s incurred
Internally generated expenditure ansing from development (or from the development phase of an internal project)
may be capitatised If it satisfies all of the cntena as specified in IAS 38 “Intangible assets” summansed in Note
26

Further to meeting these critena, only such costs that relate solely to the development phase of a self-nihiated
project are capitalised Any costs that are classified as part of the research phase of a selfimitated project are
expensed as incurred If the research phase cannot be clearly distinguished from the development phase, the
respective project related costs are treated as if they were incurred in the research phase only

Expenditure on product development 1s capitalised as an intangible asset and amortised over the expected useful
Ife of the product concerned Capitalisation commences from the point at which technical feasibility, commercial
viability and resource availlability of the product can be demonstrated and the group I1s satisfied that it 1s probable
that future economic benefit will result from the product once completed Capitalisation ceases when the product is
ready for launch

IAS 38 requires that all development costs meeting specified cntena be capitalised as intangible assets As part of
its IFRS transition project, the Group reviewed all development projects to determine whether the crntena in IAS 38
were met

The Directors believe that the Group met the recognition crnteria stated in 1AS 38 “Intangible assets” from 1
September 2007, therefore, £2 2 million of development costs incurred during the year has been capitalised as an
Intangible asset

Management made a decision to capitalise the expenditure on EPO development from the date of receipt of
approval for conducting EPO confirmatory chinical tnals in Poland From September 2007 all EPO related
development costs are capitalised All development costs pnor to 1 September 2007 and non-EPO related
development costs incurred after 1 September 2007 were expensed as incurred

Estimated impaiment of intangible assets — Development costs
The Group tests annually whether intangible assets have suffered any imparment, in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2 6 The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined

based on value-in-use calculations These calculations require the use of estimates (Note 17)

The Group uses a discounted cash flow mode! to value intangible assets, which requires assumptions about the
timung and amount of future cash inflows and outflow nsk, the cost of capital and terminal value Each of these
assumptions 15 significant to the value of the intangible assets The Group reviews intangible assets for
impairment, if there 1s an indication of impairment or annually If required, In accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of
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Assets' A prolonged general economic downturn, new products, sustained government pressure on prices and
specifically, competitive pricing, could create an imbalance of industry supply and demand, or otherwise diminish
volumes or profits Such events, combined with changes In interests, and changes to or the potentiai defay of the
development project to which the intangible asset relates, could adversely affect the Group's valuation of the
estimated future net cash flows generated by its intangible assets As a result, future operating results could be
matenally and adversely affected by impairment charges related to the recoverabihity of intangible assets

In the year to 31 March 2008, there Is no change to the estimated future net cash flows from Epostm®

If the estimated Group's pre-tax discount rate applied to the discounted cash flows for Epostim® product had been
2% higher than management’s estimates(for example, 12% instead of 10%), with all other vanables held constant,
the Group would have recognised an iImpairment against intangible assets - development by £73,675

42 Amortisation lives

Other intangible assets are recorded at their far value at acquisition date and are amortised on a straight-hne
basis over therr estimated useful economic lives from the time they are available for use Any change Iin the
estimated useful economic lives could affect the future results of the Group

43 Functional currency
The Directors consider the suggested factors under IAS 21 that are relevant in determining the functional currency
for each individual entity within the Group

The Company has autonomous operations in UK and Ireland The Dwectors believe the Pound Sterling s the
functional currency for UK operation and Euro 1s the funchional currency for Insh branch The directors would
continue to monitor the changes in underlying economic environments with regard to functional currency In the
future

44 Share-based payments
GeneMedix has histoncally granted options to the Group's Directors and employees over ordinary shares under
two stock option plans

The Group accounts for share-based compensation in accordance with IFRS 2, ‘Share-based Payment’

The Group measures share-based compensation cost for awards classified as equity at the grant date, based on
the estimated farr value of the award, and recognizes the cost as an expense on a straight-ine basis {net of
estimated forfeitures) over the employee requisite service penod The Group measures share-based
compensation cost for awards classified as habilities at fair value, which I1s re-measured at the end of each
reporting period

The Group estimates the fair value of share-based awards without market-based performance conditions using a
Black-Scholes valuation mode! and awards with market-based performance conditions are valued using a binomial
valuation model

Several cntical assumptions are made In the determination of the Group's share-based compensation cost The

Group believes that the most cntical assumptions are the expected life of the award and the weighted average
volatiity of the GeneMedix's shares Other assumptions made by the Group In respect of the determmation of
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share-based compensation cost include the nsk free rate, the expected dividend yield and the expected forfeiture
rate

The Group's estimate of the expected life of the award I1s based on the ‘simplified’ method and the weighted
average volatiity 1s based upon histoncal share price data of the Company’s shares for the requisite expected hfe
of the awards Given the related nature of each of the assumptions underlying the valuation of share-based
payment awards, it would not be meaningful to quantify the sensitivity to change for each individual assumption

The Group beleves that the valuation technique and the approach utilized to develop the underying assumptions
are appropnate in estimating the farr values of GeneMedix's share-based payment awards Estimates of fair value
are not intended to predict actual future events or the value ultimately realized by employees who receive equity
awards, and subsequent events are not indicative of the reasonableness of the onginal estimates of farr value
made by the Group under IFRS 2

45 Fair value of financial instrument

The Directors use judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation techrigque for financial instruments not quoted In
an equity market Financial instruments have been valued using a discounted cash flow analysis This valuation
requires the Group to make estimates of expected future cash flows and discount rates, which are subject to
uncertainty The amounts are disclosed in Note 24

4 6. Contingency and commitments
In the normal course of business, contingent habilities may arise from liigation and other claims against the Group

Where the potential habilities are not probable or are very difficult to quantify reliably, the Group treat them as
contingent habilittes Such habilities are disclosed in the notes but are not provided for in the financial statements
Although there can be no assurance regarding the final outcome of the legal proceedings, the Directors do not
expect them to have a matenally adverse impact on our financial position or profitabilty

Further details are included in Note 33

47 Deferred income tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities require management judgement in determining the amounts to be recognised In
particular, significant judgement 1s used when In assessing the extent to which deferred tax assets should be
recogrised with consideration given to the timing and level of future taxable income together with any future tax
planning strategies

5. Segmental information

The Group's pnmary segment for IFRS segment reporting 1s the business segment A business segment s a
group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to nsks and returns that
are different from those of other business segments

Geographical regions are the secondary reporting segments A geographic segment is engaged in providing

products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject to nsks and return that are different
from those of compenents operating in other economic environments
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The Directors are of the opinion that under |1AS 14 — '‘Segmental Information’ the Group has only one business
segment, being drug development and there was no turnover in either the year to 31 March 2008 or the penod to

31 March 2007

After the disposal of the Chinese subsidiary, Shanghai GeneMedix Biotechnology Ltd, in the prior period, the

Group's activities are wirtually all UK and Ireland based, there 1s only cne gecgraphical segment The Group’s
geographical segments are determined by location of operations

Segmental geographic information 1s set out below

For the year ended 31 March 2008

Research and development costs
Administrative expenses

Total operating loss

Investment revenue

Finance costs

Other iIncome

Segment loss before tax

Tax credit

Segment loss for the year

Other information

Depreciation

Amortisation

Imparrment of other intangible assets
Balance Sheet

Total assets

Total iabilities

Capital expenditure
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Continuing operations operations

UK ireland China Group
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000
{1,039) (1,283) - {2,302)
{1,012) {2,190} - (3,202)
{2,051) {3,453} - (5,504)
325 5 - 330
{109) - - {109)
45 2 - 47
(1,790) (3,446) . (5,236):
(1,790) (3,446) - {5,238),
80 585 - 665

3 - - 3

48 - - 48
4,019 5173 - 9,192
1,574 1,163 - 2,737
164 2,260 - 2,424
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For the sixteen months to 31 March 2007

Research and development costs
Administrative expenses
Total operating loss
Investment revenue
Finance costs

Other income

Segment loss before tax
Tax credit

Segment loss for the penod
Other information
Depreciation

Amortisation

Imparrment of goodwill
Balance Sheet

Total assets

Total liabilities

Capital expenditure

6 Finance income

Interest revenue
Bank deposits

7. Finance costs

interest payable
Bank interest payable

Other loan interest payable
Convertible debenture interest payable
Finance lease charge payable

Altnbutable to

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
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Continuing operations operations
UK Ireland China Group
£'000 £000 £°000 £'000
{556) (2,863) - {3,419)
{2,421) (1,658) (412) {4,491)
(2,977) (4,521) (412) (7,910)
73 14 - 87
(354) (30) 4) (388)
2,283 - 17 2,300
{975) (4,537) (399) (5,911)
345 - - 345
{(630) (4,537) (399) (5,566)
147 735 223 1,105
8 - - 8
- - 108 106
11,296 3,085 - 14,381
2,518 219 - 2,737
5 78 - 83
Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £000
330 87
Year 168 maonths
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £000
- (3)
- (134)
(109) (224)
- (25)
(109) (388)
(109) (384)
- 4)
{109) {388)
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8 Other income

QOther income

Loan interest waived (Note 24)

4% Debenture loan note interest waived (Note 24)

Other interest waived*

Debenture loan note revaluation and redemption (Note 27)

Year 16 months

ended ended

31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £000

19 -

27 -

1 .

- 2,283

47 2,283

* Other interest waived is related to the interest charge on late supphier's payment in prior penod After negotiation,

the supplier agreed to waive some interest charge

9 Expense by nature

Continuing operations

Changes in inventories of finished goods (Note 21)
Raw matenals and consumables used in research and development
Employee benefit expense (Note 13)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges (Note 17 and 18)

Research and non-capitalised development costs
Operating lease payments {Note 13)
Other expenses

Total Operating expenses

Discontinued operations
Employee benefit expense (Note 13)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges (Note 29)
Other expenses

Total Operating expenses
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Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000
254 130
414 644
1,467 2,122
716 1,218
1,288 1,851
263 235
1,102 1,298
5,504 7,498
- 43

- 329

- 27

- 399
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10 Employee, directors and key management

Employees

The average number of persons (Including Executive Directors) employed by the Group dunng the year was

By activities

Research and development
Administration

Aggregate remuneration of Directors

Emoluments

Post-employment benefits™ (Note 11)
Termination payments

Share-based payments

Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
Number Number
30 30

17 17

47 47
£'000 £'000
189 252

13 12

105 -

- 85

307 349

*Post-employment benefits are accruing to one executive director (2007 one) under a defined contnbution

scheme

No fees were payable to third parties in respect of Directors’ services for either year/pencd

The above amounts for remuneration include the following In respect to the highest paid director

Emoluments

Post-employment benefits (Note 11)
Termination payments

Share-based payments

Aggregate remuneration of key management

Emoluments

Post-employment benefits (Note 11)
Termination payments

Share-based payments

The key management figures given above include Executive and Non-Executive Directors
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Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000
125 173
12 12
105 -
- 85
242 270
Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000
368 460
26 26
134 -
1 98
529 584
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11 Post-employment benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Group personal pension scheme for employees and Executive
Directors The total pension cost for the Group was £96,260 (2007 £86,087) The outstanding pension .

contributions as at 31 March 2008 were £976 (2007 £5,752)

12. Discontinued operations

In August 2005, the group announced its intention to sell its Chinese subsidiary The group initiated an active
programme to locate a buyer in early 2006 and completed the sale in December 2006, its resuits are presented in !

this financial information as a discontinued operation

Financial information relating to the Chinese subsidiary, Shanghal GeneMedix Biotechnology Co Ltd’s operations
for the sixteen months to 31 March 2007 and year to 31 March 2008 1s set out below The income statement and

cash flow statement dishtnguish discontinued operations from continuing operations

Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £000
Administrative expenses/operating loss - {395) !
Finance costs - (4) l
Loss before taxation - (399)
Taxation - -
Loss from discontinued operations - (399)
Loss attributable to-
- equity holders of the Company - 321
- minonty Interest - 78
- 399
Loss per share — basic and diluted - 07p
Cash flows from discontinued operations
Net cash flows from operating activities - 34
Net cash flows from investing activities - 25
Net cash flows from financing activities - (104}
- (45)
Consideration received or receivable .
Cash received 778 671
Cash disposed of - -
Total net disposal consideration 778 671
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13 Loss for the year
Loss for the year has been arnved at after charging

Staff costs

- Wages and salanes

- Social security costs

- Post employment benefit — defined contnibution plans
- Termination benefits

- Share-based payments to Directors and employees

Less Development payroll costs capitalised as intangible assets
Attnbutable to

- Continuing operations
- Discounted operations

Services provided by the Group’s auditors and network firms

Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£000 £'000
1,818 1,732
198 187

96 86
148 -

5 117
2,265 2,122
{798) -
1,467 2,122
1,467 2,079
- 43
1,467 2,122

It s the Group’s policy to employ the auditors on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where their

expertise and expenence with the Group are important, prnincipally tax advice and as reporting accountants on
significant transactions, or where they are awarded assignments on a competitive basis Dunng the year the Group
(including its overseas subs:dianes) obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors at costs detalled

below

Services provided by Group's auditors
Auditors’ remuneration for audit services
- Auditors' fees

- All other services pursuant to legislation
Total audit fee

Other services pursuant to legtslation

- Tax services
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Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£°000 £000
40 35
7 2
47 37
32 20
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13 Loss for the year (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 18)

- Owned assets

- Under finance leases

Impairment of intangible assets (Note 17)
- Goodwill

- Licence fee

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17)
- Know-how

- Licence fee

Total depreciation and amortisation expense
Attributable to

- Continuing operations

- Discounted operations

Operating lease rental
- Property, plant and equipment
- Others

14 Income tax

Year
ended

16 months
ended

31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007

665 722
- 382

. 106

48 -

3 3

- 5

716 1,218
716 989
- 329

716 1,218
£'000 £'000
250 225
13 10
263 235

No tax charge was incurred in respect of current or deferred tax in the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007 £nil)
The tax credit for the year of £nil (2007 £345,075) relates to the Research and Development (‘R&D") tax credit

claim in respect of the accounting pertod ended 31 March 2008

Current tax

Tax credit on loss on ordinary activities

Year

ended

31 Mar 2008
£'000

16 Months‘

ended
31 Mar 2007

£'000
345

There are tax losses avalable to be carried forward at 31 March 2008 subject to the agreement of the HM
Revenue & Customs The losses are attributable to the parent company and the Ireland branch
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The tax on the Group’s losses before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would anse using the standard

Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £000
Loss for the financial period/ year 5,236 5,911
Loss on ordinary activiies multiphed by the standard rate of corporation tax of 30%
(2007 30%) 1,571 1,773
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (4) {36)
Loss carnied forward or surrendered for R&D tax credits {1,536) (1,540)
Difference between capital allowances and depreciation {31) 148
Total tax credit for the year/period - 345
Deferred tax

The Company has tax losses carried forward at the balance sheet date, which have not been recognised as the
Directors expect that it will take some time for tax losses to be relieved and the recoverability of the resuiting
deferred tax asset 1s likely to be relatively uncertain Therefore it 1s not appropriate to recognise the deferred tax
asset

Tax losses can be indefinitely carried forward to offset against future profits from same trade

15 Loss of holding company

Of the loss for the financial year, a deficit of £5,235,934 (2007 a loss of £6,218,232) 15 dealt with in the accounts
of GeneMedix plc As per section 230 of the Compantes Act 1985 the directors have presented a profit and loss
account on a consolidated basis only and not for the Company alone

16 Loss per ordinary share
Basic loss per share I1s calculated by dwviding the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding dunng the pernod

For diluted loss per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in i1ssue s adjusted to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares The group had three classes of dilutive potential ordinary
shares during the period, being those share options granted to employees and directors where exercise price 1S
less than the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares dunng the period, the contingently 1ssuable
shares attached to the warrants (see Note 25 for details) and the contingently 1ssuable shares attached to the
convertible debentures (see Note 24 for details) Since the Company reported a net loss, diluted loss per share 1s
equal to basic loss per share
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Year 16 months

ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
Pence Pence
Loss per share
From continuing and discontinued operations
- Basic (per share) 3.4 115
- Diluted (per share) 34 115
From continuing operations
- Basic (per share) 34 108
- Diluted (per share) 34 108
From discontinued operations
- Basic (per share) - 07
- Diluted (per share) - 07

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used n the calculation of basic loss per share are
as follows

Basic and diluted

Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000
Loss for the year/pericd attributable to equity holders of the parent 5,236 5,488
Loss used in the calculation of total basic loss per share 5,236 5,488
Less loss for the year/period from discontinued operations used in the
calculation of basic loss per share from discontinued operations - (399)
Add loss for the year/penod from discontinued operation for minonty interest - 78
Loss used In the calculation of basic loss per share from continuing operations 5,236 5,167
The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares in 1ssue because 1t s loss making
Woeighted average number of ordinary shares Number of Number of
shares shares
'000 ‘000
For basic and diluted loss per share 155,718 47 891

The loss used in the calculation of all diluted loss per share measures are the same as those for the equivalent
basic loss per share measures, as outline above

GENEMEDIX PLC 48



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

The following potential additional ordinary shares are not dilutive and are therefore excluded from the weighted

average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted loss per share

Employee options (Note 26)
Convertible loan notes (Note 24)

Share warrants (Note 25)

17. Intangible assets

Group

As 1 December 2005

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

Period ended 31 March 2007

Opening net book amount

Disposals’ (Note 20)

Impairment charge? (Note 29)
Amortisation charge® (Note 9 and 13)

Closing net book amount
At 31 March 2007
Cost

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

Year ended 31 March 2008
Opening net book amount
Additions

Impairment charge® (Note @ and 13)
Amortisation char995 (Note 9 and 13)

Closing net book amount
At 31 March 2008
Cost

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

GENEMEDIX PLC

Basic and diluted

Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
‘000 '000
90 530
2,190 2,180
142,657 142 657
144,937 145,377
Know-how Licence fee Goodwill R&D costs® Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
33 56 4,694 - 4,783
6 {3) (3,931} - (3,940)
27 53 763 - 843
27 53 763 - 843
- - (657) - (657)
- - (106) - (106)
(3) (5 - - (8)
24 48 - - 72
33 56 - - 89
)] (8) - - (17
24 48 - - 72
24 48 - - 72
- - - 2,138 2,138
- (48) - - (48)
(3) - - - (3)
21 - - 2,138 2,159
33 56 - 2,138 2,227
{12) (56) - - (68)
21 - - 2,138 2,159
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements {continued)

' The goodwill disposal 1s in connection with the disposal of the subsidiary — Shanghai GeneMedix Biotechnology
Co Ltd, a 75% owned subsidiary Further details are disclosed in Note 12 and 20

2 The carrying amount of the segment has been reduced to its recoverable amount through recognition of an
imparrment loss against goodwill This loss has been included in administrative expenses of the discontinued
operations in the Income statement

® The Company capitahised development costs in the amount of £2 3 million for the year (2007 £nil) as an
internally generated intangible asset for EPO programme The amount of £2 3 million (2007 £3 4 million} was
recognised as Research and non-capitalised development cost and charged to operating expenses In the
income statement Further details are shown in Note 4 1

* The licence fee impairment Is related to the termination of the G-CSF licence deal with CJ Pharma in Korea

3 Amortisation of £2,222 (2007 £7,977} 1s included in the ‘administrative expenses’ in the income statement

® There are no Intangible assets with definite useful lives All amortisation charges in the year have been charged
through Administrative expenses

Company Know-how  Licence fee R&D costs® Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £000

As 1 December 2005

Cost 33 56 - 89

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (6) (3) - (9)

Net book amount 27 53 - 80

Period ended 31 March 2007

Opening net book amount 27 53 ) 80
Amortisation charge® (Note 9 and 13) (3) (5) - (8)
Closing net book amount 24 48 - 72
At 31 March 2007

Cost 33 56 - 89
Accumulated amortisation and imparrment {9) {8) - {(17)
Net bock amount 24 48 - 72
Year ended 31 March 2008

Opening net book amount 24 48 ) 72
Additions - - 2,138 2,138
Impairment charge® (Note 9 and 13) - (48) - (48)
Amortisation charge® (Note 9 and 13) (3) - - (3)
Closing net book amount 21 - 2,138 2,159
At 31 March 2008

Cost 33 56 2,138 2,227
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (12) {56) - (68}
Net book amount 21 - 2,138 2,159
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18 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold Office Fixtures and Plant and Total
improvement equipment fittngs  machinery

Nland and

Group buildings
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000

As 1 December 2005
Cost 1,902 222 201 6,602 8,927
Accumulated depreciation and imparment (708) {143 (62) (2,281) (3,192)
Net book amount 1,196 79 139 4321 5,736
Perniod ended 31 March 2007
Opening net book amount 1,196 7 139 4,321 5,735
Exchange difference (112) - - (57) (169)
Additions - 26 23 34 83
Disposals’ (Note 20) (944) (1 - (370) (1,315)
Depreciation charge? (Note 9 and 13) (140) (49 (28) (888) {1,105)
Closing net book amount - 55 134 3,040 3,229
At 31 March 2007
Cost - 131 224 5,722 6,077
Accumulated depreciation and impairment - {76, (90) (2,682) (2,848)
Net book amount - 55 134 3,040 3,229
Year ended 31 March 2008
Opemng net book amount . 55 134 3,040 3,229
Reclassification® 1,738 187 (86) (1,839) -
Additions 106 23 1 146 286
Depreciation charge? (Note 9 and 13) {325) (79, (10) (251} (665)
Closing net book amount 1,519 186 49 1,096 2,850
At 31 March 2008
Cost 3,355 500 100 2,408 6,363
Accumulated depreciation and impairment {1,836) (314 {51} (1,312) {3.513)
Net book amount 1,519 186 49 1,096 2,850

' The asset disposal 1s In connection with the disposal of the subsidiary — Shanghai GeneMedix Biotechnology Co
Ltd, a 75% owned subsidiary Further details are disclosed in Note 12 and 20

2 Depreciation expense of £664,829 (2007 £1,104,761) 1s included in the ‘administrative expenses’ In the
consolidated income statement

3 Duning the year, the Group decided to re-classify tangible assets for internal management purpose
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18 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Leaseheid Office Fixtures and Plant and
Company Improvement equipment fittngs  machinery Total
/land and
buildings

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £°000
As 1 December 2005
Cost - 178 201 6,047 6,426
Accumulated depreciation and impairment - (103) (62) (1,872) {2,037)
Net book amount - 75 139 4,175 4,389
Penod ended 31 March 2007
Opening net book amount ) 75 139 4175 4,389
Exchange difference - - - (12) {(12)
Additions - 26 23 34 83
Disposals’ - - - (349) (349)
Depreciation charge® (Note 9 and 13) - (46) {28) (808) {882)
Closing net book amount - 55 134 3,040 3,229
At 31 March 2007
Cost - 131 224 5722 6,077
Accumulated depreciation and impairrment - (76} {90) (2,682) (2,848)
Net book amount - 55 134 3,040 3,229
Year ended 31 March 2008
Opening net book amount ) 55 134 3.040 3229
Reclassification® 1,738 187 (86) (1,839) -
Additions 106 23 11 146 286
Depreciation charge® (Note 9 and 13) (325) (79} (10} (251) (665)
Closing net book amount 1,519 186 49 1,096 2,850
At 31 March 2008
Cost 3,355 500 100 2,408 6,363
Accumulated depreciation and impairrment (1,836) (314) (51} (1,312) (3,513)
Net book amount 1,519 186 49 1,096 2,850

! The asset disposal i1s In connection with the disposal of the subsidiary — Shanghar GeneMedix Bictechnology Co
Ltd, a 75% owned subsidiary Further details are disclosed in Note 12 and 20

2 Depreciation expense of £664,829 (2007 £882,109) has been charged in Administrative expenses in the
Company’s income statement

* Dunng the year, the Group decided to re-classify tangible assets for internal management purpose
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18 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Assets held under finance leases, capitalised and included in plant and machinery for the Group and Company

Company Total
£000
As 1 December 2005

Net book amount 1,917

Period ended 31 March 2007

Opening net book amount 1,917
Exchange difference (4)
Depreciation charge {383)
Transferred to owned assets {1,530)

Closing net book amount -
At 31 March 2007

Cost -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment -

Net book amount -

On 26 March 2007, the Company repurchased all teased plant and machinery In the sale and leaseback
agreements, hence all previcusly leased assets are now owned by the Company from that day onwards

There 1s no lease rental expense relating to the lease of plant, machinery and equipment included in the income
statement (Note 13)
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19. Investment in subsidiarnes

31 Mar 2007
Company £
As at 1 December 2005
Net book amount 1,705
Period ended 31 March 2007
Opening net book amount 1,705
Disposal of substdiary’ {657)
Exchange difference 3
Impairments in the pernod’ (1.051)
Closing net book amount -
As at 31 March 2008
Cost -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment -
Net bock amount -
Year ended 31 March 2008
Opening net book amount -
Acquisition of subsidiary? 7
Closing net book amount 7
As at 31 March 2008
Cost 7
Accumulated amortisation and impairment -
Net book amount 7

' The imparrment recorded against investments in subsidiary undertakings relates to a wnte down in the

carrying value of the investment in Shanghai GeneMedix Biotechnology Co Ltd (SGB) The impairment
charge In the perniod was recognised to reduce the carrying value of the investment to its recoverable
amount, and as such no gain or loss was recognised on the sale of the investment The group completed
the sale of SGB in December 2006

Acquisition of 99% shareholding (Class A shares) of voting shares of BioMetrix Marketing Private Limited

Principal group investments

The parent company has investments in the following subsidiary undertakings

a) Shanghai GeneMedix Biotechnology Co Ltd (SGB) incorporated in People's Repubhic of China with
principal activity of therapeutic protein manufacture with 75% ordinary shareholding The results of SGB
have been excluded from the consolidated results from December 2006, at which point control passed to
the acquiring party

b) GeneMedix Biotech Malaysia Sdn Bhd ncorporated in Malaysia with 100% ordinary shareholding

GeneMedix Biotech Malaysia Sdn Bhd had never traded since formation, the 100% shareholding of the
subsidiary was wntten off in hne with the Company’s restructuning strategy dunng the year GeneMedix
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Biotech Malaysia Sdn Bhd has been subsequently struck-off from records of Companies Commssion of
Malaysia and no longer exists as a company

c) GeneMedix Ireland Limited incorporated in Ireland with 50% ordinary shareholding The company 1s not
operationat
d) Biometnx Marketing Pnvate Limited incorporated in Singapore with 89% of voting shares ownership (99%

of Class A shares — that confers nght to vote, drwvidend, and return of capital upon hquidation, to the extent
available, with no night to participate in the surplus assets, If any) Specific objective of the company 1s to
engage in marketing, dstnbution and sale of all or any of biclogical, chemical, bicchemical,
pharmaceutical, pharmacological, medicinal, and related products Since the parent company does not
control Biometrix Marketing Private Limited, its accounts are not consolidated with Group accounts as per
IAS 27

20 Disposal of subsidiary undertaking
Disposal of Shanghai GeneMedix Biotechnology Co Ltd (‘'SGB’)

£000
Property, plant and equipment 1,310
Other receivables 18
Trade and other payables (371)
Goodwill 657
Minonty interest 16
Total cash consideration 1,630

in December 2006, the group sold SGB, a 75% owned subsidiary, for £1 6 million in cash, of which £778,121 was
received In current year (2007 £670,984) and the remaining consideration 1s due to be received in the course of
the 2008 calendar year There 1s no profit on the sale The loss of SGB up to the date of disposal was £nil, and
for its last financial period was £232,107

SGB was the group’s only GM-CGF product manufactunng operation and the disposal completed the exit from
these activites As a result of the focus of the group’s operations that this disposal represented, it has been
treated as a discontinued operation in the consolidated income statement

21 Inventories

Group Company
31 Mar2008 31 Mar2007 31Mar2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £000 £000 £'000
Firushed goods - bulk 187 - 187 .
Raw matenals and consumables 197 130 197 130
384 130 384 130

There 1s no matenal difference between the balance sheet value of stocks and thewr replacement cost
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22. Other receivables

Group Company
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007 31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Amount due on disposal of subsidiary (Note 20} 181 959 181 959
Other receivables 200 453 200 453
Prepayments 617 257 617 257
998 1,669 998 1,669

No turnover was generated during the year or prior period, therefore there were no trade recewvables at either
period end The Group considers that the carrying amount of other receivables approximates their far value

Amount due on disposal of subsidiary and other receivables are not past due and are not impawed and would be

received in full

23 Trade and other payables

Group Company
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007 31 Mar2008 31 Mar 2007
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Trade payables 1,045 1,075 1,045 1,075
Other payables 351 301 351 301
Accruals 282 261 282 261
1,678 1,637 1,678 1,637

The Group considers that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates their far value

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities Trade payables are non-interest beanng and are settled In
accordance with the terms and conditions agreed with suppliers, subject to those terms and conditions being
fulfilled by the supplier The average credit period on purchase of goods and service 1s 53 days (2007 54 days)
No interest charged on the trade payables for the first 80 days from the date of the invoice
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24 Borrowings

Group Company
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007 31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Current
Loans* - 150 - 150
4% convertible loan note due 2008 — transferred
from non-current habilities** 1,177 - 1,177 -
Equity component (305) - (305) -
Amortisation cost 62 - 62 -
Interest accrued on 4% convertibte loan note 125 - 125 -
1,059 150 1,059 150
Non-current
4% convertible loan note due 2008** - 1,177 - 1,177
Equity component - (305) - (305)
Interest accrued on 4% convertible loan note - 78 - 78
- 950 - 950

* At 31 March 2007 bridge loans due of £150,000 with Dr Kim S Tan can be terminated on one month's
notice by either party and bears interest at 10% per annum These are unsecured loans Further details are

shown in Note 34

** 4% £1,177,442 CULS due in 2008 is convertible at the option of the holder into, between 1 9 million and 2 1
million, 10p ordinary shares at any time up to and including 30 August 2008 Unless previously redeemed or
converted, 1t will be redeemed at par on 30 August 2008 The equity component of £305,025 has been credited to

Capital reserve ~ see Note 27

The following tables detall the Group’s remaining contractual matunty for its borrowings As required by IFRS 7,
the tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial habities based on the earlest
date on which the Group can be required to pay The table includes both interest and pnncipal cash flows

Matunty analysis of borrowings

Less than Between Between Greater than
As at 31 March 2008 3 months  3-12 months 1-2 years 2 years Total
£'000 £°000 £'000 £:000 £000

Loans* - - - - -
4% Convertible loan note™ - 1,322 - - 1,322
Total borrowings - 1,322 - - 1,322
As at 31 March 2007

Loans” 213 - - - 213
4% Convertible loan note™ - - 1,322 - 1,322
Total borrowings 213 - 1,322 - 1,535

* The bridge loans are included in the matunty analysis above based on the earliest repayment date, of which the

Interest accrued to 31 March 2007 1s £ 62,672
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** 4% £1,177,442 CULS due 1n 2008 I1s convertible at the option of the holder into, between 19 million and 2 1
milhon, 10p ordinary shares at any time up to and including 30 August 2008 Unless previously redeemed or
converted, it will be redeemed at par on 30 August 2008 The Directors have carned out a detalled appraisal of a
number of potential approaches to renegotiate or refinance the loan note

The interest charged of the convertible loan note for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of
10% The liability component 1s measured at amortised cost The difference between the carrying amount of the
llabilittes £949,924 at 31 March 2007 and the amount reported In the balance sheet at 31 March 2008 £1,058,813
represents the effective interest rate less interest paid to that date

Currency analysis of borrowings
All borrowings are denominated in Pound Sterling for current year and prior period

Interest rate analysis — effective rates

31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007

Currency in Pound Sterling % %
Loans* 50% of LIBOR + 2% 10
4% convertible loan note** 10 10

* Loans carnied a nominal fixed interest rate of 10% As part of the negotiation on loan repayments, Dr Kim S Tan
agreed to re-set the interest rate at 50% of LIBOR + 2% Consequently, £18,923 of the cumulative interest charge
was walved and treated as ‘other iIncome’ In the income statement Therefore, there effective rate for the loans 1s
50% of LIBOR + 2% retrospectively

*+ 4% convertible loan note carries a weighted effective interest of 10%

Fair value
The following table details the carrying amount of non-current hiabilities, compared with the fair value

31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
Carrying amou Carrying
£'000 Fair value amount Fair value
£000 £'000 £00
4% Convertible loan note* - - 950 95
- - 950 95

* The convertible foan note 1s due on 30 August 2008, which I1s classified as current borrowing as at 31 March
2008 It was classified as non-current borrowing as at 31 March 2007

At 31 March 2008 and 2007 the carrying value of financial assets and all other financial liabilities 1s approximate to
fair value
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25. Share capital and premium

Authonsed

On 12 February 2007, every ten ordinary shares of 1p each were consolidated into one ordinary share of 10p  The
authonised share capital of the Company and the called-up and fully-paid amounts {after adjustment for
consolidation) were as follows

Number of Ordinary Share

shares shares premium Total

‘000 £000 £000 £'000

As at 1 December 2005 (10p per share) 37,157 3,716 27,118 30,835
Shares 1ssued for cash consideration* 116,826 11,683 - 11,683
Shares 1ssued on conversion of loan notes 1,735 173 483 656
As at 31 March 2007 155,718 15,572 27,602 43,174
As at 31 March 2008 155,718 15,5672 27,602 43,174

The total authonsed number of ordinary shares 1s 302 million shares (2007 302 mullion shares) with a par value of
10 pence per share (2007 10 pence per share) All issued shares are fully paid

* Share warrants

The Company has by an instrument dated 2 February 2007, 1ssued a warrant, representing 140,374,297 additional
Ordinary Shares pursuant to a put/call agreement dated 19 December 2006 Reliance Lfe Sciences Private
Limited ("RLS”) has the nght to subscribe in cash at a price of £0 125 per ordinary share for scme or all of the
warrant shares during a five-year penod

The farr value of the warrants as at the date of grant has been calculated as the prermium above market value paid
by RLS on the ordinary shares that were acquired at the same time as the warrants Details are as follows

Share subscrnbed pnice per share (£) 0
Value per share (£) 0
Premium per share (£) 0
Number of shares 1ssued and paid (‘000) 116,825
Farr value of the warrants (£'000) 2,921

A credit of £2,920,636 has been made to the warrant reserve dunng the sixteen months ended 31 March 2007,
reflecting the fair value of the warrant at the time of its 1Issue There 1s no change in the far value dunng the year

26 Share-based payments

Share options granted under the unapproved scheme have a fixed price based on the market pnice at the date of
the grant The contractua! life of the options 1s 10 years Options cannot normally be exercised before the third
anniversary of the date of the grant For options granted to all directors and employees, the options are
exercisable after the vesting penod Within three working days from exercising optiens, option holders have to pay
the Company the total exercised option price by cheque
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26 Share-based payments {continued)
Employees have been granted options over shares in the Company under the unapproved share option scheme
as follows

1 Apr 2007 Numberof Numberof Number of Exercise
number after options options  options 31 Mar 2008 Price
consohdation forfeited granted exercised number £ Latest exercise date
13,275 (13,275) - - - 0424 13/01/2010
15,000 {(15,000) - - - 6333 14/05/2010
30,000 (30,000) - - - 6 167 17/05/2010
45,000 (45,000) - - - 9000 16/10/2010 and 01/12/2010
10,000 - - - 10,000 9700 21/05/2011
4,000 (4,000) - - - 8150 10/08/2011
10,000 - - - 10,000 3950 12/11/2011
4,500 - - - 4,500 4600 17/12/2011
12,000 (7,500) - - 4,500 4750 (4/01/2012 to 07/01/2012
2,500 - - - 2,500 4 350 08/04/2012
3,500 - - - 3,500 4 400 22/04/2012
4,500 - - - 4,500 2400 22/07/2012
8,500 (4,000) - - 4,500 1800 06/08/2012 to 02/12/2012
15,000 {15,000) - - - 4650 31/12/2012
3,500 - - - 3,500 1250 12/11/2013
3,500 - - - 3,500 1300 10/11/2013
50,000 (50,000) - - - 0900 18/12/2013
6,000 (4,000) - - 2,000 1525 (1/03/2014 to 13/07/2014
13,500 (10,000) - - 3,500 1350 23/08/2014
3,500 {3,500) - - - 1435 11/08/2014
92,500 {75,000) - - 17,500 1125 23112014
3,000 - . 3,000 1000 12/07/2015
4,000 - - - 4,000 0920 12/07/2015
3,500 (3,500) - - - 0730 12/07/2015
5,000 - - - 5,000 0780 12/07/2015
150,000 (150,000) - - - 0425 13110/2015 to 28/11/2015
4,000 {4,000) - - 0513 06/09/2015
2,500 (2,500) - - 0475 28/11/2015
3,500 - - 3,500 0455 17/10/2015
4,000 {4,000) - - 0432 05122015
529,775 (440,275) - 89,500
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26 Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments
Employee Share Option Plan

31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
Number of WAEP* Number of WAEP*
options £ options £

At the beginning of the year/period 356,000 079 398,500 085
Options granted - - 14,000 047
Options exercised - - - -
Options forfeited (310,500) 075 {56,500) {109
At the end of the year/penod 45,500 107 356,000 079
Range of exercise pnces £ 0 45 to1.52 043to 180
Options exercisable at the end of year/period 34,700 280,566

* weighted average exercise price

The options outstanding at 31 March 2008 had a weighted average exercise price of £1 07, and a weighted
average remamning contractual ife of 6 7 years (2007 7 9 years)

The fair value of the options I1s estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model The following
table gives the assumptions applied to the options granted in the respective penods shown

Year 16 months
ended ended
31 31 Mar 2007

Weighted average share price (£) 1.07 079
Weighted average exercise pnce (£) 107 079
Expected volatility (%) 87% 89%
Expected life (years) 10 10
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 5% 4 9%
Expected dividend yield (%) None None
Weighted average fair value of shares (£) 093 069

The expected volatiity ts based on the histoncal volatility of the underlying secunty (calculated based on the
standard dewiation of the month to menth logarthmic price returns expressed as an annual percentage) adjusted
for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly avallable infformation The nsk free interest rate 1s the
yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life

The Group recognised a total expense of £117,307 and £5,215 related to equity-settled share-based payment
transactions for the 16 months ended 31 March 2007 and year ended 31 March 2008 respectively
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27 Shareholders’ funds and statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share  Share Other rese Retained Minonty Total
capital premium losses Total Interest equity
£'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Balance at 1 Dec 2005 3,716 27,119 1,035 (29,810} 2,060 70 2,130
Loss for the penod - - - {5,488) (5,488) (78) (5.566)
Currency translation - - - 17 17 5 22
Share-based payment - - - 117 117 - 17
Equity element of CULS" - - 20 - 20 - 20
Equity element of CULS" - - 8 - 8 - 8
Cumulated currency translation
difference on disposal of subsidiary
recycled to the profit & loss account - - - (17N (17} - (17}
Transfer minonty interest on disposal
of subsidiary - - - - - 3 3
Shares 1ssued for cash consideration 11,682 - - - 14,603 - 14603
Warrant reserve - 2,921 - - - -
Shares 1ssued on conversion of CULS 174 341 - - 515 - 51%
Equity element of CULS transferred to
Share Premium on conversion of
cuLs”™ - 142 (142) - - - -
Equity portion of CULS paid ™ - - (191) - (191} - (181)
Gain on early extinguishment of equity
element of CULS™ - - (425) 425 - - -
Balance at 1 Apr 2007 15,672 27,602 3,226 {34,756) 11,644 - 11,644
Loss for the year - - - (5,238) (5.236) - (5,236)
Translation difference - - 42 42 42
Share-based payment - - - 5 5 - 5
Balance at 31 Mar 2008 15,5672 27,602 3,268 (39,987) 6,455 - 6,455

“CULS Convertible unsecured loan stock

) 4% £107,000 CULS due in 2009 is convertible at the option of the holder into, between 0 25 and 0 28 million,
fully paid 10p ordinary shares of the Company at any time up to and including 15 February 2009, containing a
hard floor in relation to the conversion price equal to 3 825p The fair value of the CULS prior to the conversion
was £90,020, compnsing a nominal value of £107,000, an accrued (nterest of £3,371, minus an equity element
of £20,3517 The CULS was converted into ordinary shares on 16 February 2007
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27 Shareholders’ funds and statement of changes in sharehoiders’ equity {continued)

Total
Capital Warrant Exchange other
Other reserves reserve” reserve™ reserve™ reserves
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Balance at 1 December 2005 1,035 - - 1,035
Equity element of CULS" 20 - - 20
Equity element of CULS" 8 - - 8
Warrant reserve - 2,921 - 2,921
Equity element of CULS transferred to Share Premium on
conversion of CULS""" (142) - - (142)
Equrty element of CULS paid (181) - - (191)
Gain on early extinguishment of equity element of CULS" (425) - - (425)
Balance at 31 March 2007 305 2,921 - 3,226
Currency translation difference - - 42 42
Balance at 31 March 2008 305 2,921 42 3,268

1)}

m)

v}

v)

)]

The other debenture loan represents 5% £50,000 CULS, which i1s convertible at the option of the holder into,
between 0 2 and 0 15 million, fully paid 10p ordinary shares of the Company at any time up t¢ and including
19 May 2009, containing a hard floor in relation to the conversion price equal to 3 375p The fair value of the
CULS prior to the conversion was £43,401, comprising a nominal value of £50,000, an accrued interest of
£1,326, minus an equity element of £7,924 The CULS was converted into ordinary shares on 16 February
2007

4% £500,000 CULS due in 2007 was convertible at the option of the holder into, between 1 2 milion and 1 3
mithon, fully paid 10p ordinary shares of the Company at any tme up to and including 12 October 2007 Prior
to conversion into ordinary shares, the fair value of the CULS was £408,133, comprising a nominal value of
£500,000, an accrued interest of £21,863, minus an equity element of £113,724 The CULS were converted
into ordinary shares on 16 February 2007

5% £3,250,000 convertible unsecured loan stock (CULS) due in 2007 was convertible at the option of the
holder into, between 11 millon and 0 8 milion, fully paid 10p ordinary shares of the Company In a range
between £2 9 and £3 9 per 10p ordinary share at any time up to and including 28 June 2004 and may be
redeemed at the option of the 1ssuer between 29 June 2002 and 28 June 2007 at par The farr value of the
CULS prior to the re-negotiation was £3,312,379 compnising a nominal value of £3,250,000 and an accrued
nterest of £678,382, minus an equity element of £616,003 Dunng the penod, the CULS were re-negotiated
and redeemed for a cash consideration of £1,221,090, of which £191,477 was equity element The Company
also recogrused a financial gain of £2,282,766 and transferred the related equity element of £424,526 to the
profit and loss reserve

Capital reserve 1s the equity element of convertible loan notes 1ssued by the Company

Warrant reserve Is the fair value of share warrant 1ssued by the Company

vi) Exchange reserve represents the cumulative foreign currency translation difference of the Group
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28 Cash used in continuing operations

Group Company
Year 16 months Year 16 months
ended ended ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar2007 31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£000 £000 £°000 £'000
Loss for the year/penod (5,236) (5,167) (5,236) (6,218)
Adjustment for
Taxation - {345) - (345)
Finance costs 109 384 109 384
Finance tncome (330) (87) (330) (87)
Other income (47) (2,283) (47) (2,283) |
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 665 882 665 882
Impairment on acquired intellectual property rights 48 - 48 - ‘
impairment on investment - - - 1,051
Amortisation of intangible assets 3 8 3 8 }
Share-based payments 5 117 5 117 i
Gains on early extinguishment of equity element of \
debenture loan note - 425 - 425 |
Operating cash flows before movement in working
capital {4,783 ) (6,066) {4,783) (6.066)
Increase In inventores {254) (130) (254) (130)
Decrease in trade and other receivables (57) 289 (57} 289
(Decrease)increase In trade and other payables {106) 339 {106) 339
Decrease In provisions - {1) - (1)
Cash used In operations (5,200) (5,569) {5,200) (5,569}
Interest paid (3) (79} (3) (79)
Research and development tax credit received - 343 - 343
Net cash outfiow used in operating activities {5,203} {5,305) (5,203) {5,305)
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29. Cash generated from discontinued operations

Year 16 months
ended ended
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007

£000 £'000
Loss for the year/period (399)
Adjustment for
Finance costs - 4
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - 223
Impairment on goodwall - 106
Cumulative currency translation difference on disposal of subsidiary - (17)
Operating cash flows before movement in working capital - (83)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories - 21
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables - (4}
(Decrease)fincrease in trade and other payables - 104
Cash generated from discontinued operations - 38
Interest paid - (4)

34

Net cash generated from operating activities -

30 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on dally bank deposit rates Short-term deposits are made for
varying pernods of between one day and three months depending on the cash requirements of the Group and earn
interest at the respective short-term deposit rate The carrying amount of these assets approximates therr far

value as at the Balance Sheet date

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are ‘cash at hand and in bank’ Cash and

cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement can be reconciled to the

related items in the balance sheet as follows

31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007

£'000 £000

Restricted cash (Note 2 10) 162 125
Cash at hand and in bank 2,632 9,156
2,794 9,281

31 Commutments

The Group leases property and office equipments under operating leases The rents payable under property
leases are subject to renegotiation at vanous intervals specified in the leases The Group pays for substantially all

of the insurance and maintenance and repair of these assets
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The future aggregate mimmum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

Equipment Buildings
31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007 31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007
£'000 £'000 £°000 £000
No later than 1 year 3 1 - -
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 12 18 56 -
Later than 5 years - - 2,739 2,975
15 19 2,795 2,975

In addition, the Group has committed to undertake certain climical tnals on behalf of its partners under development
and licensing agreements The Group 15 committed to make certain payments to third parties contingent upon
future events such as the approval and launch of products Estimated amount of such committed payments 1s £
2 23 milllon, however such amount will vary depending on progress of the development programme

32 Minonty interest

Year 16 months

ended ended

31 Mar 2008 31 Mar 2007

£'000 £000

At beginning of year/period - 70
Loss on ordinary activities after taxation - (78)
Loss/ profit on fereign currency translation - (8)
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings - 16

At end of year/penod -

33 Contingencies

During the year, the Company terminated its secondary manufacturing agreement with Gland Pharma Limited and
has asked Gland to return the Lyophiiser that was installed at Gland Pharma as a part of the agreement Since
Gland has rejected the request, the Company has taken up the matter to Arbitration 1in Hyderabad, India The
Company has made a clam and Gland has made a counter-clam for subsequential losses as a result of
terminatton of secondary manufactunng agreement The company expects to cbtain a favourable ruling in its
favour and obtain possession of the equipment In view of this, the management does not envisage any sigrificant
contingent liability to be reported

34, Related party transactions
The immediate parent and ultimate controiling party respectively of the Group are Reliance Life Sciences B V
(incorporated in Netherland) and Rellance Life Sciences Private Limited (incorporated in india)

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiary, which is related party of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note There were no transactions reported dunng the year
between the Group and other refated parties
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Trading transactions
Durnng the year, group entities did not enter into any trading transactions with related parties

Loans from related parties

During 16 months to 31 March 2007, Dr Kim Tan tent the Company the amount of £307,000, of which £107,000
and £50,000 were n return for the 1ssue by the Company of Convertible Loan Notes 2009 with a 4% and 5%
coupon rate respectively, which were converted into ordinary shares on 16 February 2007, and remaining
unsecured 10% loans of £150,000 were repaid on 31 March 2008 There 1s no lcan outstanding as on the date of
this report

35. Ultimate parent undertaking
The ulumate parent company of GeneMedix Plc 1s Relrance Life Sciences Private Limited, which i1s incorporated
and registered 1n India

Rellance Life Sciences Private Limited 1s the only undertaking for which financial statements which include the
consolidated financial statements of GeneMedix Plc are drawn up These financial statements are not publicly

availlable

36 Post balance sheet event
There Is no other event after 31* March 2008 that requires disclosure or adjustment to these financial statements

37 Approval of financial statements
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 30 August 2008

38.Explanation of transition to IFRS

This 1s the first year that the Group has presented its financial statement under IFRS The following disclosures are
required in the year of transition The last financial statements under UK GAAP were for the sixteen months ended
31 March 2007 and the date of transition te IFRS was therefore 1 December 2005

Exemptions from full retrospective application — elected by the Group

The Group has elected to apply the following optional exemptions from full retrospective apphcation

a) Business combinations exemption

The Group has applied the business combination exemption in IFRS 1 It has not restated business combinations
that took place pnor to the 1 December 2005 transition date 1n accordance with IFRS 3, ‘Busingss Combinations’

b) Cumulative translation differences exemption
The Group has elected to set the previously accumulated cumulative translation differences ansing on the
transiation and consolidation of results of foreign operations and balance sheets denominated in foreign currencies

to zero at 1 December 2005 This exemption has been applied to all subsidianies in accordance with IFRS 1

¢) Exemption from restatement of comparatives for IFRS7
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The Group has elected to apply this exemption It applies UK GAAP rules to derivatives, financial assets and
financial labiities and to hedging relationships for the 2007 comparative information The adjustments required for
differences between UK GAAP and IFRS7 are determined and recognised at 1 Apnl 2007

d) Share-based payment transaction exemption
The Group has elected to apply the share-based payment exemption it applied IFRS 2 from 1 December 2005 to
those options that were 1ssued after 7 November 2002 but that have not vested by January 1, 2005

The Group adopted FRS 20 “Share-based payment”, which 1s almost identical to IFRS 2, for the sixteen months
ended 31 March 2007 Hence, no adjustment 1s required

Exceptions from full retrospective apphcation followed by the Group

The Group has applied the following mandatory exceptions from retrospective application

a) Eshmates exception
Estimates under IFRS at 1 December 2005 should be consistent with estimates made for the same date under
previous GAAP, unless there 15 ewidence that those estimates were in error No adjustment was required

b) Assets held for sale and discontinued operations exception

The Group elected to apply IFRS 5, ‘Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’
retrospectively as all required information was availlable at the tirme of disposal of the subsidiary — Shangha
GeneMedix Biotechnology Ltd Co Only a reclassification adjustment was required as at 1 December 2005
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Reconcihations between IFRS and UK GAAP

Reconciliation of equity at 31 March 2007 and 1 December 2005

Group

Equity as reported under UK GAAP

Adjustments

Reversal of goodwill amortisation

Impairment on goodwill

Employer's National Insurance habiity on share options
Cumulative currency translation difference on disposal
of subsidiary recycled to the income statement
Cumulative currency translation difference on foreign
subsidiary transferred from the reserves

Holiday pay accrual

Minonty interest in equity
Totai equity reported under IFRS

Group

Reconciliation of loss for the period

Loss for the penod reported under UK GAAP
Adustments

Goodwill amortisation

Impairment of goodwill

Cumulative currency translation difference on disposal
of subsidiary

Holiday pay accrual

Loss for the year/period reported under IFRS

GENEMEDIX PLC

Note

(@

(b)

(d)

(d)
(e)

Note

(a)
(b
(d)

(e)

At 31 Mar 2007

At 1 Dec 2005

£'000 £'000
11,644 1,025
106 -
(106) -

- (1)

17 -
(17) -
11,644 1,024
. 71
11,644 1,095

16 months ended

31 Mar 2007
£000

(5.505)

106
(1086)

17

(5,488)
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Explanation of material adjustments to equity at 31 March 2007 and 1 December 2005 and to loss for the
sixteen months ended 31 March 2007

a) Reversal of goodwill calculated under UK GAARP

Under IFRS 3 'Business Combinations', from 1 December 2005 the Group has no longer systematically amortised
goodwill, but has instead tested these assets for impairment on at least an annua! basis The Group applied the
exemption under IFRS 1, not applying IFRS 3 to the business combmation that occurred before 1 December 2005,
the Group's date of transition

The amortisation charge under UK GAAP for goodwill in 2007 was £106,347 and consequently this amount has
been reversed for IFRS

b) IAS 36, impairment of Assets’ - goodwill

Foliowing the reversal of goodwill amortisation as described in note (a) above, an adjustment was required to
reduce the value of goodwill created on the acquisition of Shangha GeneMedix Biotechnology Ltd Co , which was
imparred, to its recoverable amount

c) Employer's National Insurance charge on share options

Under UK GAAP the potential hability for employer's National Insurance on share options was calculated at each
period end based on the current employer's National Insurance rate and the number of share options that had an
exercise price below the share pnice at the perod end Under IFRS the potential liability for employer’s National
Insurance on share options 1s calculated based on an estimate of the fair value of each option at the penod end
and the current employer's National Insurance rate For options that are within three years of grant date the
potential labiity 1s pro-rated from the date of grant to the perniod end For vested options all the potential lability 1s
accrued For share options where the employee has agreed to pay the National Insurance habilities on exercise a
National Insurance asset has been created and the amount credited to the income statement

As the Company's share price has been declined below the option price or farr value of the option price, therefore,
no employer's national insurance charge have been accrued since 31 March 2007

d) IAS 21, ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’

Under IFRS cumulative foreign currency translation differences ansing on the translation and consolidation of
foreign operations' Income statements and balance sheets denominated in foreign currencies must be recorded as
a separate component of equity Applying the exemption under IFRS 1, the Group has measured and recorded all
cumulative foreign currency transtation differences ansing after the transition date of 1 December 2005 On
disposal of a foreign operation the cumulative translation differences will be transferred to the income statement as
part of the gain or loss on disposal

e) Holiday pay accrual

The Group’s holiday period runs from 1 April to 31 March each year and the Group allows employees to carry over
any unused annual leave into the next year as long as they are used by 30 September of that year Under UK
GAAP holiday pay accruals were not calculated, however, under IFRS the Group has calculated its potential
holiday pay hability at each penod end As the amounts for the hohday pay accrual at 1 December 2005 and 16
months to 31 March 2007 were immatenial, the Group decided not to make adjustments for either pernod

All of the above changes have been implemented from 1 December 2005 From 1 Apnl 2007 the Group has
implemented the following additional changes in accounting policies These changes will be applied prospectively
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from 1 Apnt 2007 and will therefore not affect the 2007 comparative information 1n the Annual Report and Accounts
2007

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments Disclosures’ and IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement’
From 1 Apnl 2007 the Group has applied IFRS 7 and IAS 39 These standards are applied prospectively, and
therefore no restatements are made to the income statement for the sixteen months ended 31 March 2007 and the
balance sheets as at 1 December 2005 and 31 March 2007

Cash flow

The transition from UK GAAP to IFRS has no effect upon the cash flows generated by the Group The IFRS cash
flow statement 1s presented in a different format from that required by UK GAAP with cash flows spiit into three
categones of activites — operating activities, investing activihes and financing activities The reconcihng items
between the UK GAAP presentation and the IFRS presentation have no net impact on the cash flows generated
In preparing the cash flow statement under IFRS, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and
highly liquid interest beanng securities with onginal maturities of three months or less, but exclude restricted cash
Under UK GAAP, the cash flow also recognised restricted cash wathin cash and liquid resources
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